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OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL

SPECIAL REVIEW

TSI couNTERTERRORISM DETENTION AND
~ INTERROGATION ACTIVITIES
(SEPTEMBER 2001 - OCTOBER 2003)
(2003-7123-IG)

"7 May 2004

INTRODUCTION

2. _ In November 2002, the Deputy Director for
Operations (DDO) informed the Office of Inspector General (OIG)
that the Agency had established a program in the Counterterrorist
Center to detain and interrogate terrorists at sites abroad ("the CTC

Program”). He also informed OIG that he had just learned of and had -

dispaiched o ot investico« NN
I - ...y 2005, the DDO informed OIG
that he had received allegations that Agency personnel had used
unauthorized interrogation techniques with a detainee,

"Abd Al-Rahim Al-Nashiri, at another foreign site, and requested that

Torseces, I
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OIG investigate. Separately, OIG received information that some
_employees were concerned that certain covert Agency activities at an

overseas detention and interrogation site might involve violations of

human rights. In January 2003, OIG initiated a review of Agency

counterterrorism detention and interrogation activities |JJ§
daﬂd the incident with

Al-Nashiri.! This Review covers the period September 2001 to mid-
October 2003.2

SUMMARY

“the DCI assigned responsibility for

implementing capture and detention authority to the DDO and to the
Director of the DCI Counterterrorist Center (D/CTC). When U.S.

military forces began detaining individuals in Afghanistan and at
Guantanamo Bay, Cuba,

4.
“the Agency began to detain and interrogate

directly a number of suspected terrorists. The capture and initial
Agency interrogation of the first high value detainee, Abu Zubaydabh,

1 M Appendix A addresses the Procedures and Resources that OIG employed in
conducting this Review. The Review does not address renditions conducted by the Agency or
interrogations conducted jointly wi e U.S. military.

2 (U) Appendix B is a chronology of significant events that occurred during the period of this
Review. ,




in March 2002, presented the Agency with a significant dilemma.*
The Agency was under pressure to do everything possible to prevent
additional terrorist attacks. Senior Agency officials believed Abu
Zubaydah was withholding information that could not be obtained
through then-authorized interrogation techniques. Agency officials
believed that a more robust approach was necessary to elicit threat
information from Abu Zubaydah and possibly from other senior

Al Qa'ida high value detainees.

5. (TS- The conduct of detention and interrogation

activities presented new challenges for CIA. These included
determining where detention and interrogation facilities could be
securely located and operated, and identifying and preparing
qualified personnel to manage and carry out detention and
interrogation activities. With the knowledge that Al-Qa‘ida
personnel had been trained in the use of resistance techniques,
another challenge was to identify interrogation techniques that
Agency personnel could lawfully use to overcome the resistance. In -
this context, CTC, with the assistance of the Office of Technical -
Service (OTS), proposed certain more coercive physical techniques to
use on Abu Zubaydah. All of these considerations took place against
the backdrop of pre-September 11, 2001 CIA avoidance of
interrogations and repeated U.S. policy statements condemning
torture and advocating the humane treatment of pohtlcal prisoners
and detainees in the international community.

6. S 1 Office of General Counsel (0GC) took
the lead in determining and documenting the legal parameters and
constraints for interrogations. OGC conducted independent research

4 m The use of "high value” or "medium value" to describe terrorist targets and
detainees in this Review is based on how they have been generally categorized by CTC. CTC
distinguishes targets according to the quality of the intelligence that they are believed likely to be
able to provide about current terrorist threals against the United States. Senior Al-Qa‘ida
planners and operators, such as Abu Zubaydah and Khalid Shaykh Muhammad, fall into the
category of "high value” and are given the highest priority for capture, detention, and
interrogation. CTC categorizes those individuals who are believed to have lesser direct
knowledge of such threats, but to have information of intelligence value, as "medium value"
targets/ detainees.

N | 3
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and consulted extensively with Department of Justice (DoJ) and
National Security Council (NSC) legal and policy staff. Working with
DoJ’s Office of Legal Counsel (OLC), OGC determined that in most
instances relevant to the counterterrorism detention and |
interrogation acﬁvities— the criminal prohibition
against torture, 18 U.S.C. 2340-2340B, is the controlling legal
_constraint on interrogations of detainees outside the United States. In
August 2002, DoJ provided to the Agency a legal opinion in which it
determined that 10 specific "Enhanced Interrogation Techniques"
(EITs) would not'violate the torture prohibition. This work provided

the foundation for the policy and administrative decisions that gmde :
the CTC Program. '

7. _ By November 2002, the Agency had Abu

Zubaydah and another high value detainee, "Abd Al-Rahim
Al-Nashiri, in custod

and the Office of Medlcal Services (OMS)
provided medical care to the detainees,

4




From the beginning, OGC briefed DO officers
assigned to thes acilities on their legal authorities, and Agency
personnel staffing these facilities documented interrogations and the
condition of detainees in cables.

- 10. _ There were few instances of deviations

from approved procedures— with one
notable exception described in this Review. With respect to two
detainees at those sites, the use and frequency of one EIT, the
waterboard, went beyond the projected use of the technique as
originally described to Do]. The Agency, on 29 July 2003, secured
oral DoJ concurrence that certain deviations are not significant for
purposes of Do]’s legal opinions.

11.




undocumented interrogation technique

15. ('FS,-) Agency efforts to provide systematic,

clear and timely guidance to those involved in the CTC Detention
and Interrogation Program was inadequate at first but have '
improved considerably during the life of the Program as problems
have been identified and addressed. CTC implemented training
programs for interrogators and debriefers.6 Moreover, building upon
operational and legal guidance previously sent to the field, the DCI

6 _ Before 11 September (9/11) 2001, Agency personnel sometimes used the
terms interrogation/interrogator and debriefing/debriefer interchangeably. The use of these terms has
since evolved and, today, CTC more clearly distinguishes their meanings. A debriefer engages a
detainee solely through question and answer. An interrogator is a person who completes a
two-week interrogations training program, which is designed to train, qualify, and certify a
person to administer EITs. Aninterrogator can administer EITs during an interrogation of a
detainee only after the field, in coordination with Headquarters, assesses the detainee as
withholding information. An interrogator transitions the detainee from a non-cooperative to a
cooperative phase in order that a debriefer can elicit actionable intelligence through
non-aggressive techniques during debriefing sessions. An interrogator may debrief a detainee
during an interrogation; however, a debriefer may not interrogate a detainee.

6
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on 28 January 2003 signed "Guidelines on Confinement Conditions -

for CIA Detainees" and "Guidelines on Interrogations Conducted
Pursuant
The DCI Guidelines require individuals

engaged in or supporting interrogations

be made aware of the
guidelines and sign an acknowledgment that they have read them.
The DCI Interrogation Guidelines make formal the existing CTC
practice of requiring the field to obtain specific Headquarters
approvals prior to the application of all EITs. Although the DCI
Guidelines are an improvement over the absence of such DCI
Guidelines in the past, they still leave substantial room for
misinterpretation and do not cover all Agency detention and
interrogation activities.

16. _ The Agency’s detention and interrogation
of terrorists has provided intelligence that has enabled the
identification and apprehension of other terrorists and warned of
terrorist plots planned for the United States and around the world.
The CTC Program has resulted in the issuance of thousands of
individual intelligence reports and analytic products supporting the

counterterrorism efforts of U.S. policymakers and military
commanders.

17. ("Fﬁ_) The current CTC Detention and
Interrogation Program has been subject to Do] legal review and
Administration approval but diverges sharply from previous Agency
policy and rules that govern interrogations by U.S. military and law
enforcement officers. Officers are concerned that public revelation of
the CTC Program will seriously damage Agency officers’ personal

reputations, as well as the reputation and effectiveness of the Agency
itself.

e« O 2111z d that detainees may
be held in U.S. Government custody indefinitely if appropriate law

enforcement jurisdiction is not asserted. Although there has been
ongoing discussion of the issue inside the Agency and among NSC,

' 7
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were only designed to address the CTC Progtam, rather than all

Torseerer I

-Defense Department, and Justice Department officials, no decisions

on any "endgame"” for Agency detainees have been made. Senior
Agency officials see this as a policy issue for the U.S. Government
rather than a CIA issue. Even with Agency initiatives to address the
endgame with policymakers, some detainees who cannot be
prosecuted will likely remain in CIA custody indefinitely.

19. _ The Agency faces potentially serious

long-term political and legal challenges as a result of the CTC

‘Detention and Interrogation Program, particularly its use of EITs and
. the inability of the U.S. Government to decide what it will ultimately

do with terrorists detained by the Agency.

20. _ This Review makes a number of

recommendations that are designed to strengthen the management
and conduct of Agency detention and interrogation activities.
Although the DCI Guidelines were an important step forward, they

debriefing or interrogation activities.




BACKGROUND

22. (S), The Agency has had intermittent involvement in the
interrogation of individuals whose interests are opposed to those of
the United States. After the Vietnam War, Agency personnel
experienced in the field of interrogations left the Agency or moved to
other assignments. In the early 1980s, a resurgence of interest in
teaching interrogation techniques developed as one of several
- methods to foster foreign liaison relationships. Because of political
sensitivities the then-Deputy Director of Central Intelligence (DDCI)
forbade Agency officers from using the word "interrogation.” The
Agency then developed the Human Resource Exploitation (HRE)
training program designed to train foreign liaison services on
interrogation techniques.

23. (S) In 1984, OIG investigated allegations of misconduct on
the part of two Agency officers who were involved in interrogations
and the death of one individual |

Following that investigation, the Agency -
took steps to ensure Agency personnel understood its policy on

. 9 .




interrogations, debriefings, and human rights issues. Headquarters

sent officers to brief Stations and Bases and provided cable guidance
to the field. '

24.18) In 1986, the Agency ended the HRE training program
because of allegations of human rights abuses in Latin America.

which remains in effect, explains the Agency’s general interrogation
policy:

10
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DISCUSSION

GENESIS OF POST 9/11 AGENCY DETENTION AND INTERROGATION
ACTIVITIES

25. (TS-} The statﬁtoi basii for CIA s involvement

in detentions and interrogations is
the National Securi

Act of 1947, as amended.”

27. MNE) The DCI delegated responsibﬂity for
implementation |l to the DDO and D/CTC. Over time,

CTC also solicited assigtance from other Agency components,
including OGC, OMS and OTS.

7 (U//FOUO) Do takes the position that as Commander-in-Chief, the President independently
has the Article II constitutional authority to order the detention and interrogation of enemy

combatants to gain intelligence information.
8

9

1
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28. (_ To assist Agency officials in
understanding the scope end implications | NN
I 0 rcocarched, analyzec, and

wrote "draft” papers on multiple legal issues. These included
discussions of the

'OGC shared these

"draft" papers with Agency officers responsible

29.

THE CAPTURE OF ABU ZUBAYDAH AND DEVELOPMENT OF EITS

30. _ The capture of senior Al-Qa’ida operative
Abu Zubaydah on 27 March 2002 presented the Agency with the

opportunity to obtain actionable intelligence on future threats to the
United States from the most senior Al-Qa‘ida member in U.S. custody

at that time. This accelerated CIA’s development of an interrogation
program“

12 ~
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31. _ To treat the severe wounds that Abu

Zubaydah suffered upon his capture, the Agency provided him
intensive medical care from the outset and deferred his questioning
for several weeks pending his recovery. The Agency then assembled

a team that interrogated Abu Zuba

ydah using non-aggressive,
non-physical elicitation techriiques. “

The Agency believed that Abu Zubaydah
was withholding imminent threat information. '

32. ) Several months earlier, in late 2001, CIA

had tasked an independent contractor psychologist, who had-
Fexpenence in the U.S. Air Force’s Survival, Evasion,

esistance, and Escape (SERE) training program, to research and -
write a paper on Al-Qa’ida’s resistance to interrogation techniques.13
This psychologist collaborated with a Department of Defense (DoD)
‘psychologist who had SERE experience in the U.S. Air
Force and DoD to produce the paper, "Recognizing and Developing
Countermeasures to Al-Qa’ida Resistance to Interrogation
Techniques: A Resistance Training Perspective." Subsequently, the
two psychologists developed a list of new and more aggressive EITs
that they recommended for use in interrogations.

12

13 (U/ /FOUO) The SERE training program falls under the DoD Joint Personnel Recovery
Agency (JPRA). JPRA is responsible for missicns to include the training for SERE and Prisoner of
War and Missing In Action operational affairs including repatriation. SERE Training is offered
by the U.S. Army, Navy, and Air Force to its personnel, particularly air crews and special
operations forces who are of greatest risk of being captured during military operations. SERE
students are taught how to survive in various terrain, evade and endure captivity, resist
interrogations, and conduct themselves to prevent harm to themselves and fellow prisoners of

Torseesay




33. ( CIA’s OTS obtained data on the use of the
proposed EITs and their potential long-term psychological effects on .
~detainees. OTS input was based in part on information solicited from
a number of psychologists and knowledgeable academics in the area
of psychopathology. '

34. TFSY OTS also solicited input from DoD/Joint
Personnel Recovery Agency (JPRA) regarding techniques used in its
SERE training and any subsequent psychological effects on students.
DoD/JPRA concluded no long-term psychological effects resulted
from use of the EITs, including the most taxing technique, the
waterboard, on SERE students.}4 The OTS analysis was used by OGC
in evaluating the legality of techniques.

35. ( Eleven EITs were proposed for adoption
in the CTC Interrogation Program. As proposed, use of EITs would
be subject to a competent evaluation of the medical and psychological
state of the detainee. The Agency eliminated one proposed
technique—”—aﬂer learning from DoJ that this could
delay the legal review. The following textbox identifies the 10 EITs

the Agency described to Do].

14 ?S)\ According to individuals with authoritative knowledge of the SERE program, the
waterboard was used for demonstration purposes on a very small number of students in a class.
Except for Navy SERE training, use of the waterboard was discontinued because of its dramatic
effect on the students who were subjects.

14
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Enhanced Interrogation Techniques

The attention grasp consists of grasping the detainee with both hands, with one
hand on each side of the collar opening, in a controlled and quick motion. In the
same motion as the grasp, the detainee is drawn toward the interrogator.

During the walling technique, the detainee is pulled forward and then quickly and
firmly pushed into a flexible false wall so that his shoulder blades hit the wall. His
head and neck are supported with a rolled towel to prevent whiplash.

The facial hold is used to hold the detainee’s head immobile. The interrogator -
places an open palm on either side of the detainee’s face and the interrogator’s
fingertips are kept well away from the detainee’s eyes.

With the facial or insult slap, the fingers are slightly spread apart. The
interrogator’s hand makes contact with the area between the tip of the detainee’s
chin and the bottom of the corresponding earlobe.

In cramped confinement, the detainee is placed in a confined space, typically a
small or large box, which is usually dark. Confinement in the smaller space lasts
no more than two hours and in the larger space it can last up to 18 hours,

Insects placed in a confinement box involve placing a harmless insect in the box
with the detainee.

During wall standing, the detainee may.stand about 4 to 5 feet from a wall with
his feet spread approximately to his shoulder width. His arms are stretched out in
front of him and his fingers rest on the wall to support all of his body weight. The
detainee is not allowed to reposition his hands or feet.

The application of stress positions may include having the detainee sit on the floor
with his legs extended straight out in front of him with his arms raised above his
head or kneeling on the floor while leaning back at a 45 degree angle.

Sleep deprivation will not exceed 11 days at a time.

The application of the waterboard technique involves binding the detainee to a
bench with his feet elevated above his head. The detainee’s head is immobilized
and an interrogator places a cloth over the detainee’s mouth and nose while
pouring water onto the cloth in a controlled manner. Airflow is restricted for 20 to
40 seconds and the technique produces the sensation of drowning and suffocation.

Torsce I
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DOJ LEGAL ANALYSIS »

. 36 _ CIA’s OGC sought guidance from DoJ
regarding the legal bounds of EITs vis-a-vis individuals detained
I - v e opinions focus on

the Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhumane and
Degrading Treatment or Punishment (Torture Convention),’s

especially as implemented in the U.S. criminal code, 18 U.S.C. 2340-
2340A.

37. (U//FOUQ) The Torture Convention specﬁlcally prohibits
"torture," Wthh it defines in Article 1 as:

- any act by which severe pain or suffering, whether physical or
mental, is intentionally inflicted on a person for such purposes as
obtaining from him or a third person information or a confession,
punishing him for an act he or a third person has committed or is
suspected of having committed, or intimidating or coercing him or
a third person, or for any reason based on discrimination of any
kind, when such pain or suffering is inflicted by or at the
instigation of or with the consent or acquiescence of a public official
or other person acting in an official capacity. It does not include
pain or suffering arising only from, inherent in or incidental to
lawful sanctién. [Emphasis added.]

Article 4 of the Torture Convention provides that states party to the
Convention are to ensure that all acts of "torture” are offenses under
their criminal laws. Article 16 additionally provides that each state
party "shall undertake to prevent in any territory under its
jurisdiction other acts of cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or

punishment which do not amount to acts of torture as defined in
Article 1."

15 y/ FOUQ) Adopted 10 December 1984, S. Treaty Doc. No. 100-20 (1988) 1465 UN.T.S. 85

(entered into force 26 June 1987). The Torture Convention entered into force for the United States
.on 20 November 1994.

16
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38. (U//FOUQ) The Torture Convention applies to the United
States only in accordance with the reservations and understandings
made by the United States at the time of ratification.l¢ As explained
to the Senate by the Executive Branch prior to ratification:

Article 16 is arguably broader than existing U.S. law. The phrase
"cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment" is a
standard formula in international instruments and is found in the
Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenant

. on Civil and Political Rights, and the European Convention on
Human Rights. -To the extent the phrase has been interpreted in the
context of those agreements, "cruel” and "inhuman” treatment or
punishment appears to be roughly equivalent to the treatment or
punishment barred in the United States by the Fifth, Eighth and
Fourteenth Amendments. "Degrading” treatment or punishment,
however, has been interpreted as potentially including treatment
that would probably not be prohibited by the U.S. Constitution.
[Citing a ruling that German refusal to recognize individual’s
gender change might be considered "degrading” treatment.] To
make clear that the United States construes the phrase to be
coextensive with its constitutional guarantees against cruel,
unusual; and inhumane treatment, the following understanding is
recommended:

"The United States understands the term ‘cruel, inhuman or
degrading treatment or punishment,’ as used in Article 16 of
the Convention, to mean the cruel, unusual, and inhumane -
treatment or punishment prohibited by the Fifth, Eighth
and/or Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the
United States."l7 [Emphasis added.]

16 (U) Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, 23 May 1969, 1155 UN.T.S. 331 (entered into
force 27 January 1980). The United States is not a party to the Vienna Convention on treatles, but
it generally regards its provisions as customary international law.

17 (U//FOUO) S. Treaty Doc. No. 100-20, at 15-16.

17
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30, (U//FQUO) In acf:ordance with the Convéntion, the
United States criminalized acts of torture in 18 U.S.C. 2340A(a),
which provides as follows:

Whoever outside the United States commits or attempts to commit
torture shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than
20 years, or both, and if death results to any person from conduct
prohibited by this subsection, shall be punished by death or
imprisoned for any term of years or for life.

The statute adopts the Convention definition of "torture” as "an act
committed by a person acting under the color of law specifically

intended to inflict severe physical or mental pain or suffering (other

than pain or suffering incidental to lawful sanctions) upon another
person within his custody or physical control."18 "Severe physical
pain and suffering” is not further defined, but Congress added a
definition of "severe mental pain or suffering:"

[T]he prolonged mental harm caused by or resulting from-

(A) the intehtional infliction or threatened infliction of severe
physical pain or suffering;

(B) the administration or application, or threatened
administration or application, of mind-altering substances or
other procedures calculated to disrupt profoundly the senses or
the personality;

(C) the threat of imminent death; or

(D) the threat that another person will imminently be subjected
to death, severe physical pain or suffering, or the administration
or application of mind-altering substances or other procedures
calculated to disrupt profoundly the senses or personality. . . .19

These statutory definitions are consistent with the understandings
and reservations of the United States to the Torture Convention.

18 (U7 /FOUO) 18 U.S.C. 2340(1).
19 (u//FOUO) 18 US.C. 2340(2).

18 .
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40. (U//FOUQ) DoJ has never prosecuted a violation of the
torture statute, 18 U.S.C. §2340, and there is no case law construing
its provisions. OGC presented the results of its research into relevant
issues under U.S. and international law to DoJ’s OLC in the summer
of 2002 and received a preliminary summary of the elements of the
torture statute from OLC in July 2002. An unclassified 1 August 2002
OLC legal memorandum set out OLC's conclusions regarding the
proper interpretation of the torture statute and concluded that
"Section 2340A proscribes acts inflicting, and that are specifically
intended to inflict, severe pain or suffering whether mental or
physical."20 Also, OLC stated that the acts must be of an "extreme
nature" and that "certain acts may be cruel, inhuman, or degrading,
but still not produce pain and suffering of the requisite intensity to
fall within Section 2340A's proscription against torture.” Further
" describing the requisite level of intended pain, OLC stated:

Physical pain amounting to torture must be equivalent in intensity
to the pain accompanying serious physical injury, such as organ
failure, impairment of bodily function, or even death. For purely
mental pain or suffering to amount to torture under Section 2340, it
must result in significant psychological harm of significant
duration, e.g., lasting for months or even years.?!

OLC determined that a violation of Section 2340 requires that the
infliction of severe pain be the defendant’s "precise objective." OLC.
also concluded that necessity or self-defense might justify
interrogation methods that would otherwise violate Section 2340A.22
The August 2002 OLC opinion did not address whether any other
provisions of U.S. law are relevant to the detention, treatment, and
interrogation of detainees outside the United States.23

20 (u//FOUOY) Legal Memorandum, Re: Standards of Conduct for Interrogation under
18 U.S.C. 2340-2340A (1 August 2002).

21 (u//FOUO) Dhid., p. 1.
22 (U//FOUO) Thid., p. 39.
23 (U//FOUQ) OLC’s analysis of the torture statute was guided in part by judicial decisions

under the Torture Victims Protection Act (TVPA) 28 U.S.C. 1350, which provides a tort remedy
for victims of torture. OLC noted that the courts in this context have looked at the entire course
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41. (U//FOUO) A second unclassified 1 August 2002 OLC
opinion addressed the international law aspects of such
interrogations.24 This opinion concluded that interrogation methods
that do not violate 18 U.S.C. 2340 would not violate the Torture
Convention and would not come within the jurisdiction of the
International Criminal Court.

42. _ In addition to the two unclassified

opinions, OLC produced another legal opinion on 1 August 2002 at
the request of CIA.25 (Appendix C.) This opinion, addressed to
CIA’s Acting General Counsel, discussed whether the proposed use
of EITs in interrogating Abu Zubaydah would violate the Title 18
prohibition on torture. The opinion concluded that use of EITs on
Abu Zubaydah would not violate the torture statute because, among
other things, Agency personnel: (1) would not speciﬁcally intend to
inflict severe pain or suffering, and (2) would not in fact inflict severe
pain or suffering.

43. _ This OLC opinion was based upon

specific representations by CIA concerning the manner in which EITs
would be applied in the interrogation of Abu Zubaydah. For
example, OLC was told that the EIT "phase” would likely last "no
more than several days but could last up to thirty days.” The EITs
would be used on "an as-needed basis" and all would not necessarily
be used. Further, the EITs were expected to be used "in some sort of
escalating fashion, culminating with the waterboard though not
necessarily ending with this technique.” Although some of the EITs

of conduct, although a single incident could constitute torture. OLC also noted that courts may
be willing to find a wide range of physical pain can rise to the level of "severe pain and
suffering.” Ultimately, however, OLC concluded that the cases show that only acts "of an
extreme nature have been redressed under the TVPA’s civil remedy for torture.” White House
Counsel Memorandum at 22 - 27.

24 (U7 /FOUQ) OLC Opinion by John C. Yoo, Deputy Assistant Attorney General, OLC
{1 August 2002).

25 Memorandum for John Rizzo, Acting General Counsel of the Central
Intelligence Agency, "Interrogation of al Qaida Operative” (1 August 2002) at 15.
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might be used more than once, "that repetition will not be substantial
because the techniques generally lose their effectiveness after several
repetitions.” With respect to the waterboard, it was explained that:

... the individual is bound securely to an inclined bench ... .. The
individual’s feet are generally elevated. A cloth is placed over the
forehead and eyes. Water is'then applied to the clothina
controlled manner. As this is done, the cloth is lowered until it
covers both the nose and mouth. Once the cloth is saturated and
completely covers the mouth and nose, the air flow is slightly
restricted for 20 to 40 seconds due to the presence of the cloth. This
causes an increase in carbon dioxide level in the individual’s blood.
This increase in the carbon dioxide level stimulates increased effort
to breathe. This effort plus the cloth produces the perception of
"suffocation and incipient panic,” i.e., the perception of drowning.
The individual does not breathe water into his lungs. During those
20 to 40 seconds, water is continuously applied from a height of [12
to 24] inches. After this period, the cloth is lifted, and the
individual is allowed to breathe unimpeded for three or four full
breaths. The sensation of drowning is immediately relieved by the
removal of the cloth. The procedure may then be repeated. The
water is usually applied froma canteen cup or small watering can
‘with a spout. . .. [This procedure triggers an automatic
physiological sensation of drowning that the individual cannot
control even though he may be aware that he is in fact not
drowning. [I]tis likely that this procedure would not last more
than 20 minutes in any one application,

Finally, the Agency presented OLC with a psychological profile of
Abu Zubaydah and with the conclusions of officials and
psychologists associated with the SERE program that the use of EITs
would cause no long term mental harm. OLC relied on these
representations to support its conclusion that no physical harm or
prolonged mental harm would result from the use on him of the -
ElTs, including the waterboard. %

26 ?'TS.(- According to the Chief, Medical Services, OMS was neither consulted nor
involved in the initial analysis of the risk and benefits of EITs, nor provided with the OTS report
cited in the OLC opinion. In retrospect, based on the OLC extracts of the OTS report, OMS
contends that the reported sophistication of the preliminary EIT review was exaggerated, at least
as it related to the waterboard, and that the power of this EIT was appreciably overstated in the
report. Furthermore, OMS contends that the expertise of the SERE psychologist/interrogators on

21
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44, _ OGC continued to consult with DoJ as the

CTC Interrogation Program and the use of EITs expanded beyond the
interrogation of Abu Zubaydah. This resulted in the production of
an undated and unsigned document entitled, "Legal Principles
Applicable to CIA Detention and Interrogation of Captured
Al-Qa’ida Personnel."?” According to OGC, this analysis was fully
coordinated with and drafted in substantial part by OLC. In addition
to reaffirming the previous conclusions regarding the torture statute, -
the analysis concludes that the federal War Crimes statute, 18 U.S.C.
2441, does not apply to'Al-Qa'ida because members of that group are
not entitled to prisoner of war status. The analysis adds that "the
[Torture] Convention permits the use of [cruel, inhuman, or
degrading treatment] in exigent circumstances, such as a national
emergency or war." It also states that the interrogation of Al-Qa’ida
members does not violate the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments
because those provisions do not apply extraterritorially, nor does it
violate the Eighth Amendrment because it only applies to persons
upon whom criminal sanctions have been imposed. Finally, the
analysis states that a wide range of EITs and other techniques would
not constitute conduct of the type that would be prohibited by the
Fifth, Eighth, or Fourteenth Amendments even were they to be
applicable:

“ The use of the following techniques and of comparable, approved
techniques does not violate any Federal statute or other law, where
the CIA interrogators do not specifically intend to cause the
detainee to undergo severe physical or mental pain or suffering
(i.e., they act with the good faith belief that their conduct will not
cause such pain or suffering): isolation, reduced caloric intake (so
long as the amount is calculated to maintain the general health of
the detainees), deprivation of reading material, loud music or white

the waterboard was probably misrepresented at the time, as the SERE waterboard experience is
so different from the subsequent Agency usage as to make it almost irrelevant. Consequently,
according to OMS, there was no 4 priori reason to believe that applying the waterboard with the

frequency and intensity with which it was used by the psychologist/interrogators was either
efficacious or medically safe.

27 ¢ "Legal Principles Applicable to CIA Detention and Interrogation of
Captured Al-Qa’ida Personnel,” attached to—(16 June 2003).

| 2
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noise (at a decibel level calculated to avoid damage to the
detainees’ hearing), the attention grasp, walling, the facial hold, the
facial slap (insult slap), the abdominal slap, cramped confinement,
wall standing, stress positions, sleep deprivation, the use of
diapers, the use of harmless insects, and the water board.

According to OGC, this analysis embodies DoJ agreement that the
reasoning of the classified 1 August 2002 OLC opinion extends
beyond the interrogation of Abu Zubaydah and the conditions that
were specified in that opinion.

NOTICE TO AND CONSULTATION WITH EXECUTIVE AND CONGRESSIONAL
OFFICIALS

45. ( At the same time that OLC was reviewing
the legality of EITs in the summer of 2002, the Agency was consulting
+with NSC policy staff and senior Administration officials. The DCI
briefed appropriate senior national security and legal officials on the
proposed EITs. In the fall of 2002, the Agency briefed the leadership
of the Congressional Intelligence Oversight Committees on the use of
both standard techniques and EITs.

16. (TSR © caxty 2003, C1A officials, at the urging

-of the General Counsel, continued to inform senior Administration
officials and the leadership of the Congressional Oversight
Committees of the then-current status of the CTC Program. The
Agency specifically wanted to ensure that these officials and the
Committees continued to be aware of and approve CIA’s actions,
The General Counsel recalls that he spoke and met with White House
Counsel and others at the NSC, as well as DoJ’s Criminal Division
and Office of Legal Counsel beginning in December 2002 and briefed
them on the scope and breadth of the CTC’s Detention and
Interrogation Program.

47, _ Representatives of the DO, in the

presence of the Director of Congressional Affairs and the General
Counsel, continued to brief the leadership of the Intelligence
Oversight Committees on the use of EITs and detentions in February
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and March 2003. The General Counsel says that none of the

participants expressed any concern about the techniques or the
Program.

48. SR o 29 11ty 2003, the DCI and the General

- Counsel provided a detailed briefing to selected NSC Principals on

‘CIA’s detention and interrogation efforts involving "high value
detainees,” to include the expanded use of EITs.28 According to a
Memorandum for the Record prepared by the General Counsel
following that meeting, the Attorney General confirmed that DoJ
approved of the expanded use of various EITs, including multiple
applications of the waterboard.2® The General Counsel said he
believes everyone in attendance was aware of exactly what CIA was
doing with respect to detention and interrogation, and approved of
the effort. According to OGC, the senior officials were again briefed
regarding the CTC Program on 16 September 2003, and the
Intelligence Committee leadership was briefed again in September
2003. Again, according to OGC, none of those involved in these
briefings-expressed any reservations about the program.

GUIDANCE ON CAPTURE, DETENTION, AND INTERROGATION

49. _ Guidance and tra'mjng are fundamental

to the success and integrity of any endeavor as operationally,
politically, and legally complex as the Agency’s Detention and
Interrogation Program. Soon after 9/11, the DDO issued guidance on
the standards for the capture of terrorist targets.

50. YFSR The DCL in January 2003 approved

formal "Guidelines on Confinement Conditions for CIA Detainees"
(Appendix D) and "Guidelines on Interrogations Conducted

28

"(U//FOUO) Memorandum for the Record, 5 August 2003).

‘ 24 :
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Headquarters, to the fel

51. _} n November 2002, CTCanitialed training

courses for individuals involved in interrogations.







DCI Confinement Guidelines

57. T]‘S.-bciow Janwary 2003, officers assigned to

manage detention facilities developed and implemented confinement
condition procedures.

The January 2003
DCI Guidelines govern the conditions of confinement for CIA
detainees held in detention facilities

|
|
|
|




They must

review the Guidelines and sign an acknowiegment that they have

59. ?I"SL-) The DCT Guidelines specify legal

"minimums" and require that "due provision must be taken to protect
the health and safety of all Cl1A detainees.” The Guidelines do not
require that conditions of confinement at the detention factlities
conform to U.S. prison or other standards. At a minimum, however,
detention facilities are to provide basic levels of medical care:

Further, the guidelines provide that:
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DCI Interrog-aﬁon Guidelines

60. (S7YANE)_ Prior to January 2003, CTC and OGC
disseminated guidance via cables, e-mail, or orally on a case-by-case
basis to address requests to use specific interrogation techniques..
Agency management did not require those involved in interrogations
to sign an acknowledgement that they had read, understood, or
agreed to comply with the guidance provided. Nor did the Agency
maintain a comprehensive record of individuals who had been
briefed on interrogation procedures.

Interrogation Guidelines require that all personnel directly engaged
in the interrogation of persons detained have reviewed these
Guidelines, received appropriate training in their implementation,
and have completed the applicable acknowledgement.

62. (S7¥NE). The DCI In{errogation Guidelines define
"Permissible Interrogation Techniques" and specify that "unless
otherwise approved by Headquarters, CIA officers and other
personnel acting on behalf of CIA may use only Permissible
Interrogation Techniques. Permissible Interrogation Techniques
consist of both (a) Standard Techniques and (b) Enhanced

relevant text of DO Handboo
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Techniques."3 EITs require advance approval from Headquarters, as
do standard techniques whenever feasible. The field must document
the use of both standard techniques and EITs.

63. ( The DCI Interrogation Guidelines define
"standard interrogation techniques” as techniques that do not
incorporate significant physical or psychological pressure. These
techniques include, but are not limited to, all lawful forms of
questioning employed by U.S. law enforcement and military
interrogation personnel. Among standard interrogation techniques
are the use of isolation, sleep deprivation not to exceed 72 hours
reduced caloric intake (so long'as the amount is calculated to |
maintain the general health of the detainee), deprivation of reading

.material, use of loud music or white noise (at a decibel level
calculated to avoid damage to the detainee’s hearing), the use of
diapers for limited periods (generally not to exceed 72 hours
and moderate-
psychological pressure. The DCI Interrogation Guidelines do not
specifically prohibit improvised actions. A CTC/Legal officer has
said, however, that no one may employ any technique outside
specifically identified standard techniques without Headquarters
approval.

64. TES E(Ts include physical actions and are
defined as"techniques that do incorporate physical or psychological
. pressure beyond Standard Techniques." Headquarters must approve
the use of each specific EIT in advance. EITs may be employed only
by trained and certified interrogators for use with a specific detainee

and with appropriate medical and psychological monitoring of the
process.3® '

33 TS} The 10 approved EITs are described in the textbox on page 15 of this Review.

3 ¢ According to the General Counsel, in late December 2003, the period for
sleep deprivation was reduced to 48 hours.

35 m Before EITs are administered, a detainee must receive a detajle
sychological assessment and physical exam.
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Medical Guidelines

65. _ OMS prepar-ed'dr-aft guidelines for
medical and psychological support to detainee interrogations.

{(Appendix F.)

Training for Interrogations

initiated a pilot running of a two-week
Interrogator Training Course designed to train, qualify, and certify
individuals as Agency interrogators.3” Several CTC officers,

36 (U//ATUQ) A 28 March 2003 Lotus Note from C/CTC/Legal advised Chief, Medical
Services that the "Seventh Floor” "would need to approve the promulgation of any further formal

. guidelines. . .. For now, therefore, let’s remain at the discussion stage. .. ."
“
1 :
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includi_ng a former SERE instrucior. Jdesigned the curricuium, wrich

included a week of classroom instruct

Cfollowed by a week ot

, Once certified, an
interrogator is deemed gualified to conduct an interrogation

emploving ElTs.




‘Students
completing the Interrogation Course are required to sign an
acknowledgment that they have read, understand, and will comply
with the DCI’s Interrogation Guidelines. -

69. C'SID 1 juce 2003, CTC established a debriefing

course for Agency substantive experts who are involved in questioning
detainees after they have undergone interrogation and have been
deemed "compliant." The debriefing course was established to train
non-interrogators to collect actionable intelligence from high value
detainees in CIA custody. The course is intended to familiarize
non-interrogators with key aspects of the Agency interrogation
Program, to include the Program’s goals and legal authorities, the DCI
Interrogation Guidelines, and the roles and responsibilities of all who
interact with a high value detainee.

Derention AND INTERROGATION oPERaTIONS AT/ G

70.

33
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psychologist/interrogators began Al-Nashiri's interrogation using
EITs immediately upon his arrival. Al-Nashiri provided lead
information on other terrorists during his first day of interrogation.
On the twelfth day of interrogation psychologist/
interrogators administered two applications of the waterboard to
Al-Nashiri during two separate interrogation sessions. Enhanced

interroiation of Al-Nashiri continued through 4 December 2002,.

Videotapes of Interrogations

77. (RS Headquarters had intense interest in

keeping abreast of all aspects of Abu Zubaydah’s interrogation]JJj
ﬂincluding compliance with the guidance provided to the

site relative to the use of EITs. Apart from this, however, and before
the use of EITs; the interrogation teams decided to
videotape the interrogation sessions. One initial purpose was to
ensure a record of Abu Zubaydah’s medical condition and treatment
should he succumb to his wounds and questions arise about the
medical care provided to him by CIA. Another purpose was to assist
in the preparation of the debriefing reports, although the team
advised CTC/Legal that they rarely, if ever, were used for that
purpose. There are 92 videotapes, 12 of which include EIT
applications. An OGC attorney reviewed the videotapes in
November and December 2002 to ascertain compliance with the
August 2002 Do] opinion and compare what actually happened with
what was reported to Headquarters. He reported that there was no
deviation from the DoJ guidance or the written record.

78. OIG reviewed the videotapes, logs, and
cables in May 2003. OIG identified 83 waterboard

: aii]icaﬁons, most of which lasted less than 10 seconds.# -

41 For the purpose of this Review, a waterboard application constituted each
discrete mstance in which water was applied for any period of time during a session.

36 : '
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oun Interrogation videotapes to be
blank. Two others were blank except for one or two minutes of
recording. Two others were broken and could not be reviewed. OIG
compared the videotapes to logs and cables and identified
~a 21-hour period of time, which included two waterboard sessions,
that was not captured on the videotapes.

79. _ OIG’s review of the videotapes revealed
that the waterboard technique employed at was different
from the technique as described in the Do]J opinion and used in the
SERE training. The difference was in the manner in which the
detainee’s breathing was obstructed. At the SERE School and in the
DoJ opinion, the subject’s airflow is disrupted by the firm application
of a damp cloth over the air passages; the interrogator applies a small
amount of water to the cloth in a controlled manner. By contrast; the
Agency interrogator—conﬁnuously applied large volumes
of water to a cloth that covered the detainee’s mouth and nose. One of
the psychologists/interrogators acknowledged that the Agency’s use
of the technique differed from that used in SERE training and
explained that the Agency’s technique is different because it is "for
real" and is more poignant and convincing.

80.
.Septembe_r 2003,

From December 2002 until

During this time, Headquarters issued
the formal DCI Confinement Guidelines, the DCI Interrogation
Guidelines, and the additional draft guidelines specifically

- I
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strengthen the command and contre

Program.
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Guidance Prior to DCI Guidelines

89. {3

B < A gency was providing legal and operational
briefings and cablesﬁthat contained Headquarters’ -
guidance and discussed the torture statute and the Dof legal opinion.
CTC had also established a precedent of detailed cables between

and Headquarters regarding the
interrogation and debriefing of detainees. The written guidance did
not address the four standard interrogation techniques that,
according to CTC/Legal, the Agency had identified as early as
November 2002.43 Agency personnel were authorized to employ
standard interrogation techniques on a detainee without

Headquarters’ prior approval. The guidance did not specifically

43\(97'7‘1\1&\'1‘119 four standard interrogation techniques were: (1) sleep deprivation not to

exceed 72 hours, (2) continual use of light or darkness in a cell, (3} loud music, and (4) white noise
(background humy).

40
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(- address the use of props to imply a physical threat to a detainee, nor
did it specifically address the issue of whether or not Agency officers
could improvise with any other techniques. No formal mechanisms
were in place to ensure that personnel going to the field were briefed
on the existing legal and policy guidance.

Specific Unauthorized or Undocumented Techniques

- 90. TSI This Review heard allegations of the use
of unauthorized techm'ques- The most significant, the

handgun and power drill incident, discussed below, is the subject of a
i separate OIG investigation. In addition, individuals interviewed
‘ during the Review identified.other techniques that caused concern
| because DaJ had not specifically approved them. These included the
b making of threats, blowing cigar smoke, employing certain stress
| positions, the use of a stiff brush on a detainee, and stepping on a
i detainee’s ankle shackles. For all of the instances, the allegations
| were disputed or too ambiguous to reach any authoritative
L determination regarding the facts. Thus, although these allegations
( are illustrative of the nature of the concerns held by individuals
associated with the CTC Program and the need for clear guidance,
l they did not warrant separate investigations or administrative action.

l Handgun and Power Drill

l 91. interrogation team members,

: whose purpose it was to interrogate Al-Nashiri and debrief Abu
Zubaydah, initially staffedﬁ The interrogation team
continued EITs on Al-Nashiri for two weeks in December 2002- :
they assessed him to be "compliant.” Subsequently, CTC officers at
Headquarters sent

enior operations officer (the debriefer)
to debrief and assess Al-Nashiri.

92. TBS_The debriefer assessed Al-Nashiri as

withholding information, at which point_reinstated-
B .00ding, and handcuffing. Sometime between -

41
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28 December 2002 and 1 January 2003, the debriefer used an
unloaded semi-automatic handgun as a prop to frighten Al-Nashiri
into disclosing information4 After discussing this plan withjJJjJj

the debriefer entered the cell where Al-Nashiri sat shackled and
racked the handgun once or twice close to Al-Nashiri’s head 45 On
what was probably the same day, the debriefer used a power drill to
frighten Al-Nashiri. Wi_ consent, the debriefer entered
the detainee’s cell and revved the drill while the detainee stood

naked and hooded. The debriefer did not touch Al-Nashiri with the
power drill.

93. m Th d debriefer did not request
authorization or report the use of these unauthorized techniques to
s. However, in January 2003, newly arrived TDY officers
ho had learned of these incidents reported them to
Headquarters. OIG investigated and referred its findings to the
Criminal Division of Do]. On 11 September 2003, Do] declined to
prosecute and turned these matters over to CIA for disposition.

These incidents are the subject of a separate OIG Report of
Investigation.46

Threats

94. (¥, During another incident the
same Headquarters debriefer, according to a ho

was present, threatened Al-Nashiri by saying that if he did not: talk,
~ "We could get your mother in here," and, "We can bring your family
in here.” The_debriefer reportedly wanted Al-Nashiri

to infer, for psychological reasons, that the debriefer might b

-intelh' ence officer based on his Arabic dialect, and that Al-
Nashiri was in custody because it was widely believed in
Middle East circles that interrogation technique involves

44 T579AE) This individual was not a trained interrogator and was not authorized to use EITs.

45 (U//FQUO) Racking is a mechanical procedure used with firearms to chamber a bullet or
simulate a bullet being chambered.

46 [S4ANF) Unauthorized Interrogation Techniques- 29 October 2003.
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sexually abusing female relatives in front of the detainee. The
debriefer denied threatening Al-Nashiri through his family. The
debriefer also said he did not explain who he was or where he was
from when talking with Al-Nashiri. The debriefer said he never said
he wa intelligence officer butlet
Al-Nashiri draw his own conclusions.

An experienced Agency interrogator
interrogators threatened Khalid
According to this interrogator, the
interrogators said to Khalid Shaykh Muhammad that
if anything else happens in the United States, "We're going to kill
your children.” According to the interrogator, one of the -
interrogators sai

With respect to the report -
provided to him of the threat: that report did not
indicate that the law had been violated. '

Smoke

interrogator admitted that, in December 2002, he and another

smoked cigars and blew smoke in
Al-Nashiri’s face during an interrogation. The interrogator claimed
they did this to "cover the stench” in the room and to help keep the
interrogators alert late at night. This interrogator said he would not
do this again based on "perceived criticism." Another Agency
interrogator admitted that he also smoked cigars during two sessions
with Al-Nashiri to mask the stench in the room. He claimed he did
not deliberately force smoke into Al-Nashiri’s face.

43
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Stress Positions

97. _ OIG received reports that interrogation
team members employed potentially injurious stress positions on
Al-Nashiri. Al-Nashiri was required to kneel on the floor and lean
back. On at least one occasion, an Agency officer reportedly pushed

Al-Nashiri backward while he was.in this stress position. On another
occasion aid he had to intercede after-

xpressed concern that Al-Nashiri’s arms might be .
dislocated from his shoulders. -explamed that, at the time,
the interrogators were attempting to put Al-Nashiri in a standing
stress position. Al-Nashiri was reportedly lifted off the floor by his
arms while his arms were bound behind his back with a belt.

Stiff Brush and Shackles

98. _nterrogator reported that
he witnessed other techniques used on Al-Nashiri that the

‘interrogator knew were not specifically approved by Do]J. These
included the use of a stiff brush that was intended to induce pain on
Al-Nashiri and standing on Al-Nashiri’s shackles, which resulted in

cuts and bruises. When questioned, an interrogator who was at

cknowledged that they used a stiff brush to bathe

Al-Nashiri. He described the brush as the kind of brush one uses in a

bath to remove stubborn dirt. A CTC manager who had heard of the

incident attributed the abrasions on Al-Nashiri’s ankles to an Agency
officer accidentally stepping on Al-Nashiri’s shackles while
repositioning him into a stress position.

Waterboard Technique

99. _ The Review determined that the
- interrogators used the waterboard on Khalid Shaykh Muhammad in
a manner inconsistent with the SERE application of the waterboard
and the description of the waterboard in the DoJ OLC opinion, in-that
the technique was used on Khalid Shaykh Muhammad a large
number of times. According to the General Counsel, the Attorney

TOP




General acknowledged he is fully aware of the repetitive use of the
waterboard and that CIA is well within the scope of the Do] opinion
and the authority given to CIA by that opinion. The Attorney
General was informed the waterboard had been used 119 times on a
single individual.

100. (TS ) Cables indicate that Agency
interrogator applied the waterboard technigue to
Khalid Shaykh Muhammad 18




in any one application.” |



















paragraphs 64-6
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Interrogators are required to sign a statement certifying they have
read and understand the contents of the folder.
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Specific Unauthorized or Undocumented Techniques

164. 18§ as but
one event in the early months of Agency activity in
that involved the use of interrogation techniques that .
DoJ and Headquarters had not approved. Agency personnel
reported a range of improvised actions that interrogators and
debriefers reportedly used at that time to assist in obtaining
information from detainees. The extent of these actions is illustrative
of the consequences of the lack of clear guidance at that time and the

Agency's insufficient attention to interrogations m_

165. OIG opened separate investigations into
two incidents:

and the death of a detainee at a military base in Northeast
Afghanistan (discussed further in paragraph 192). These two cases
presented facts that warranted criminal investigations. Some of the
techniques discussed below were used wi and will be
further addressed in connection with a Repor
In other cases of undocumented or unauthorized techniques, the facts
are ambiguous or ]ess serious, not warranting further investigation.
Somé actions discussed below were taken by employees or
contractors no longer associated with the Agency. Agency
management has also addressed administratively some of the actions.

Pressure Points

i ity 2002,
\ operations officer, participated with another

operations officer in a custodial interrogation of a detainee-
I -
used a "pressure point" technique: with both of his hands on the
detainee's nccl NS -2t s fngers

to restrict the detainee’s carotid artery.
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167. ho was
facing the shackled detainee, reportedly watched his eyes to the point
that the detainee would nod and start to pass out; then, the

shook the detainee to wake him. This
process was repeated for a total of three applications on the detainee.
The*acknowledged to OIG that he laid hands
on the detainee and may have made him think he was going to lose
consciousness. The_also noted that he hasjjjjj
years of experience debriefing and interviewing people and until
recently had never been instructed how to conduct interrogations.

168. @7“NZE) CTC mana‘gement is now aware of this reported
incident, the severity of which was disputed. The use of pressure

oints is not, and had not been, authorized, and CTC has advised the
-at such actions are not authorized.

" Mock Executions

- 169. The debriefer who employed the
handgun and power drill on Al-Nashjrjadvised that
those actions were predicated on a technique he had participated in

'—The debriefer stated that when he wa

between September and October 2002, offered to
fire a handgun outside the interrogation room while the debriefer
was interviewing a detainee who was thought to be withholding -
information.@_staged the incident, which included
screaming and yelling outside the cell by other CIA officers and
guards. When the guards moved the detainee from the interrogation

room, they passed a guard who was dressed as a hooded detainee,

lying motionless on the ground, and made to appear as if he had
been shot to death.
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170. The debriefer claimed he did not think
he needed to report this incident because the] 2

openly discussed this plan—several days prior-to and
after the incident. When the debriefer was late“nd
believed he needed a non-traditional technique to induce the
detainee to cooperate, he told e wanted to wave a handgun
in front of the detainee to scare him. The debriefer said he did not
believe he was required to notify Headquarters of this technique,
citing the earlier, unreported mock executio

171. A senior operations officex_

recounted that around September 2002-1eard that the debriefer
had staged a mock execution. -was not present but understood it
went badly; it was transparently a ruse and no benefit was derived
from it. bserved that there is a need to be creative as long as it is
not considered torture. ‘ta’ted that if such a proposal were made
now, it would involve a great deal of consultation. It would begin

wi management and would include CTC/Legal,

and the CT

. 172. 377‘NE)\The admitted staging a "mock
execution" in the first days tha as open. According to the

—the technique was his idea but was not effective
because it came across as being staged. It was based on the concept,
from SERE school, of showing something that looks real, butis not.
The —recalled that a particular CTC interrogator later
‘told him about employing a mock execution technique. The il

I cid not know when this incident occurred or if it was

successful. He viewed this technique as ineffective because it was not
believable. -
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described staging a mock execution of a detainee.

~ Reportedly, a detainee who witnessed the "body™in the aftermath of
the ruse "sang like a bird." :

174. revealed that approximately
four days before his interview with OIG, th stated he
had conducted a mock executio in October or

November 2002. Reportedly, the firearm was discharged outside of
the building, and it was done because the detainee reportedly

possessed critical threat information stated that he told
the—not to do it again. He stated that he has not heard
of a similar act occurring ﬁsince then.

Use of Smoke

175. A CIA office

revealed that
cigarette smoke was once used as an interrogation technique in
October 2002. Reportedly, at the request of
an interrogator, the officer, who does not
smoke, blew the smoke from a thin cigarette/cigar in the detainee’s
face for about five minutes. The detainee started talking so the
smoke ceased. heard that a different
officer had used smoke as an interrogation technique. OIG
questioned numerous personnel who had worke bout
the use of smoke as a technique. None reported any knowledge of
the use of smoke as an interrogation technique. |

176. (S I

dmitted that he has personally used smoke
inhalation techniques on detainees to make them ill to the point
where they would start to "purge.” ‘After this, in a weakened state,
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these detainees would then provide ith
information.”0 denied ever physically :

abusing detainees or knowing anyone who has. ~

Use of Cold

177.

Prior to proceeding with any of the proposed methods,
officer responsible for the detaineeﬁrequesﬁng
Headquarters authority to employ a prescribed interrogation plan
over a two-week period. The plan included the following:

Physical Comfort Level Deprivation: With use of a window air
conditioner and a judicious provision/deprivation of warm

_clothing /blankets, believe we can increase [the detainee’s] physical
discomfort level to the point where we may lower his
mental/trained resistance abilities.

CTC/Legal responded and advised, "[Claution must be used when
employing the air conditioning/blanket deprivation so that [the
detainee’s] discomfort does not lead to a serious _illness or worse."

179

70 &) This was substantiated in part by the CIA officer who participated in this act with the
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- 183. Many of the officers interviewed about
the use of cold showers as a technique cited that the water heater was
inoperable and there was no other recourse except for cold showers.
However,—explained that if a detainee was _
cooperative, he would be given a warm shower. He stated that when
a detainee was uncooperative, the interrogators accomplished two
goals by combining the hygienic reason for a shower with the
unpleasantness of a cold shower.

184. In December 2002,
cable -
reported that a detainee was left in a cold room, shackled and naked,
until he demonstrated cooperation.

185, 15, Wren asked in Febfuii 2003, if cold

was used as an interrogation technique, the esponded,
“not per se." He explained that physical and environmental
discomfort was used to encourage the detainees to improve their
environment. || lbserved that cold is hard to define. He
asked rhetorically, "How cold is cold? How cold is life threatening?”
He stated that cold water was still employed however,
‘showers were administered in a heated room. He stated there was no
specific guidance on it from Headquarters, and-was left to its
own discretion in the use of cold. -dded there is a cable

from-documenting the use of "manipulation of the
environment." '

186. TS| A1t ough the DCI Guidelines do not
mention cold as a technique, the September 2003 draft OMS
Guidelines on Medical and Psychological Support to Detainee
Interrogations specifically identify an "uncomfortably cool
environment” as a standard interrogation measure. (Appendix F.)
The OMS Guidelines provide detailed instructions on safe
temperature ranges, including the safe temperature range when a
detainee is wet or unclothed.
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Water Dousing
187.  According to_ and
others who have worked "water dousing” has been used

since early 2003 when officer introduced
this technique to the facility. Dousing involves laying a detainee
down on a plastic sheet and pouring water over him for 10 to

15 minutes. Another officer explained that the room was maintained
at 70 degrees or more; the guards used water that was at room
temperature while the interrogator questioned the detainee.

188. [Ty A review || o April and

May 2003 revealed tha sought permission from
CTClto employ specific techniques for a number of detainees.
Included in the list of requested techniques was water dousing.”2
Subsequent cables reported the use and duration of the techniques by
detainee per interrogation session.”3 One certified interrogator,
noting that water dousing appeared to be a most effective technique,
requested CTC to confirm guidelines on water dousing. A return
cable directed that the detainee must be placed on a towel or sheet,

- may not be placed naked on the bare cement floor, and the air

‘temperature must exceed 65 degrees if the detainee will not be dried
immediately.

189. U&(-The DCI Guidelines do not mention
water dousing as a technique. The 4 September 2003 draft OMS
Guidelines, however, identify "water dousing" as one of 12 standard
measures that OMS listed, in ascending degree of intensity, as the
11th standard measure. OMS did not further address "water
dousing" in its guidelines.

73 eported water dousing as a technique used, but
in a later paragraph used the term "cold water bath."
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Hard Takedown

190.

191. T‘PS,LF According to the hard
takedown was used often in interrogations a as "part of the
atmospherics.”" For a time, it was the standard procedure for moving
a detainee to the sleep deprivation cell. It was done for shock and
psychological impact and signaled the transition to another phase of
the interrogation. The act of putting a detainee into a diaper can
cause abrasions if the detainee struggles because the floor of the

facility is concrete. The tated he did not discuss the
hard takedown with anagers, but he thought the

understood what techniques were being used at
-tated that the hard takedown had not been used recentl

- After taking the interrogation class, he understood that if
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he was going to do a hard takedown, he must report it to
Headquarters. Although the DCI and OMS Guidelines address
physical techniques and treat them as requiring advance

Headquarters approval, they do not otherwise spec1f1cally address
the "hard takedown." :

192. _stated that he was generally
familiar with the technique of hard takedowns. He asserted that they
are authorized and believed they had been used one or more times at
in order to intimidate a detainee. —stated that he
would not necessarily know if they have been used and did not

consider it a serious enough handling technique to require
Headquarters approval. Asked about the possibility that a detainee
may have been dragged on the ground during the course of a hard
takedown esponded that he was unaware of that and did
_not understand-the point of dragging someone along the corridor in

Abuse—at Other Locations Qutside of the CTC
Program » -

193. Although not within the scope of the '
CTC Program two other incidents

As noted above, one
resulted in the death of a detainee at Asadabad Base76

194. (5774NE)_In June 2003, the U.S. military sought an Afghan
citizen who had been implicated in rocket attacks on a joint U.S.
Army and CIA position in Asadabad located in Northeast
Afghanistan. On 18 June 2003, this individual appeared at Asadabad .
Base at the urging of the local Governor. The individual was held in
a detention facility guarded by U S. soldiers from the Base. During

76 Y8), For more than a year, CIA referred to Asadabad Base as-
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the four days the individual was detained, an Agency independent
contractor, who was a paramilitary officer, is alleged to have severely
beaten the detainee with a large metal flashlight and kicked him
during interrogation sessions. The detainee died in custody on

21 June; his body was turned over to a local cleric and returned to his
family on the following date without an autopsy being performed.
Neither the contractor nor his Agency staff supervisor had been
trained or authorized to conduct interrogations. The Agency did not
renew the independent contractor’s contract, which was up for
renewal soon after the incident. OIG is investigating this incident in
concert with DoJ.77

195. {S/ANE) In July 2003,

 m
teacher at a religious school This assault occurred

during the course of an interview during a joint operatio:

The objective was to determine if anyone at
e school had information about the detonation of a remote-

controlled improvised explosive device that had killed eight border
- guards several days earlier.

196. (S/NE) A teacher being interviewed

I
-re ortedly smiled and laughed inappropriately,
Whereupon“ used the butt stock of his rifle
to strike or "buttstroke” the teacher at least twice in his torso,
followed by several knee kicks to his torso. This incident was
witnessed by 200 students. The teacher was reportedly not seriously
injured. In response to his actions, Agency management returned the

—to Headquarters. He was counseled and

given a domestic assignment.
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ANALYTICAL SUPPORT TO INTERROGATIONS

204. _ Directorate of Inteils igenee anal \\iw

assigned to CTC provide analvitcal sup port to miterrogation teams in

the field. Analysts are xcxgonxh le for developing requirements for
the questioning of ¢ {etainces as voell a b

ndmmu aic Lmlmm m

sOome cases.
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205. ‘(‘"‘ES(- According to a number of those
interviewed for this Review, the Agency’s intelligence on Al-Qa’ida
was limited prior to the initiation of the CTC Interrogation Program.
The Agency lacked adequate linguists or subject matter experts and
had very little hard knowledge of what particular Al-Qa‘ida

, leaders—who later became detainees—knew. This lack of knowledge
led analysts to speculate about what a detainee "should know," vice

information the analyst could objectively demonstrate the detainee
did know.

206..

When

a detainee did not respond to a question posed to him, the
assumption at Headquarters was that the detainee was holding back
and knew more; consequently, Headquarters recommended
resumption of EITs. |

o

207.
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evidenced in the final swaterboard session of Abu Zubavdah.
According to a senior CTC officer, the interrogation team-
considered Abu Zubavdah te be compliant and wanted to
terminate FiTs. | { to

withhold information,

Blbelieved Abu Zubavdah continuec

8.t the time it

|
1
|
|
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generated substantial pressure from Headquarters to continue use of
the EITs. According to this senior officer, the decision to resume use

of the waterboard on Abu Zubaydah was made by senior officers of
the DO

to assess Abu Zubaydah's compliance and witnessed the
final waterboard session, after-which, they reported back to
Headquarters that the EITs were no longer needed on Abu
Zubaydah. ' :

210.

. EFFECTIVENESS

211. (’Pﬁ- The detention of terrorists has prevented

them from engaging in further terrorist activity, and their
interrogation has provided intelligence that has enabled the
identification and apprehension of other terrorists, warned of
terrorists plots planned for the United States and around the world,
and supported articles frequently used in the finished intelligence
publications for senior policymakers.and war fighters. In this regard,
there is no doubt that the Program has been effective. Measuring the
effectiveness of EITs, however, is a more subjective process and not
without some concern.

212. _ When the Agency began capturing

terrorists, management judged the success of the effort to be gettin
them off the streets,
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!i! t!e capture ol terrorists w!o !a! access to muc! more

significant, actionable information, the measure of success of the

Program increasingly became the intelligence obtained from the
‘detainees.

213. EPS_ Quantitatively, the DO has significantly
increased the number of counterterrorism intelligence reports with
the inclusion of information from detainees in its custody. Between
9/11 and the end of April 2003, the Agency produced over 3,000
intelligence reports from detainees. Most of the reports came from °

inte]]iience provided by the high value detainees at —

214. CTC frequently uses the
information from one detainee, as well as other sources, to vet the
information of another detainee. Although lower-level detainees
provide less information than the high value detainees, information
from these detainees has, on many occasions, supplied the -

information needed to probe the high value detainees further.
™ I
intelligence provides a fuller knowledge of Al-Qa‘ida activities than
would be possible from a single detainee. For example, Mustafa
Ahmad Adam al-Hawsawi, the Al-Qa‘ida financier who was
captured with Khalid Shaykh Muhammad, provided the Agency’s
first intelligence pertaining to
participant in the 9/11 terrorist plot.

215. Detainees have provided
information on Al-Qa'ida and other terrorist groups. Information of
note includes: the modus operandi of Al-Qa'ida,_

errorists who are capable of mounting attacks in the
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216. ( Detainee information has assisted in the
identification of terrorists. For example, information from Abu
Zubaydah helped lead to the identification of Jose Padilla and

. Binyam Muhammed-—operatives who had plans to detonate a

uranium-topped dirty bomb in either Washington, D.C., or New,
York City. Riduan "Hambali" Isomuddin provided information-that
led to the arrest of previously unknown members of an Al-Qa'ida cell
in Karachi. They were designated as pilots for an aircraft attack
inside the United States. Many other detainees, including lower-level
detainees such as Zubayr and Majid Khan, have provided leads to
other terrorists, but probably the most prolific has been Khalid |
Shaykh Muhammad. He provided information that helped lead to
the arrests of terrorists including Sayfullah Paracha and his son Uzair
Paracha, businessmen whom Khalid Shaykh Muhammad planned to
use to smuggle explosives into the United States; Saleh Almari, a
sleeper operative in New York; and Majid Khan, an operative who

could enter the United States easily and was tasked to research
attacks | i Shaykh Muhammad's

information also led to the investigation and prosecution of Iyman
Faris, the truck driver arrested in early 2003 in Ohio. ﬂ




217. ( Detainees, both planners
and operatives, have also made the Agency aware of several plots

planned for the United States and around the world. The plots

ity o
ﬂaﬁack the U.S. Consulate in Karachi, Pakistan; hijack aircraft

to fly into Heathrow Airpor (NN cos-

track spikes in an attempt to derail a train in the United States;

blow up several
U.S. gas stations to create panic and havoc; hijack and fly an airplane

into the tallest building in California in a west coast version of the
World Trade Center attack; cut the lines of suspension bridges in
‘New York in an effort to make them collapse;

This Review did not uncover any evidence that these plots
were imminent. Agency senior managers believe that lives have been
saved as a result of the capture and interrogation of terrorists who

_ were planning attacks, in particular Khalid Shaykh Muhammad, Abu
Zubaydah,_Hamba]i, and Al-Nashiri.

218. judge the reporting from
detainees as

one of the most important sources for finished
T .

intelligence.
analysts” knowledge of the terrorist target as having much more
depth as a result of information from detainees and estimated that

detainee reporting is used in all counterterrorism articles produced
for the most senior policymakers.

In an interview, the DCI
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said he believes the use of EITs has proven to be extremely valuable

in obtaining enormous amounts of critical threat information from-

detainees who had otherwise believed they were safe from any harm
" in the hands of Americans.

220. Inasmuch as EITs have been used only

‘since August 2002, and they have not all been used with every high
value detainee, there is limited data on which to assess their

-individual effectiveness. This Review identified concerns about the
use of the waterboard, specifically whether the risks of its use were
justified by the results, whether it has been unnecessarily used in
some instances, and whether the fact that it is being applied in a
manner different from its use in SERE training brings into question
the continued applicability of the Do]J opinion to its use. Although
the waterboard is the most intrusive of the ElTs, the fact that
precautions have been taken to provide on-site medical oversight in
the use of all EITs is evidence that their use poses risks.

221. _ Determining the effectiveness of each
EIT is important in facilitating Agency management’s decision as to
which techniques should be used and for how long. Measuring the
overall effectiveness of EITs is challenging for a number of reasons
including: (1) the Agency cannot determine with any certainty the
totality of the intelligence the detainee actually possesses; (2) each
detainee.has different fears of and tolerance for EITs; (3) the
application of the same EITs by different interrogators may have




different results; and

222, ( The waterboard has been used on three |
detainees: Abu Zubaydah, Al-Nashiri, and Khalid Shaykh-
Muhammad.

ee detainees

possessed perishable information about 1mmment threats against the
United States.

223, Prior to the use of EITs, Abu Zubaydah
provided information fo intelligence reports. Interrogators
applied the waterboard to Abu Zubaydah at least 83 times during -
August 2002. During the period between the end of the use of the

. waterboard and 30 April 2003, he provided information for
approximatel additional reports. It is not possible to say
definitively that the waterboard is the reason for Abu Zubaydah's
increased production, or if another factor, such as the length of
detention, was the catalyst. Since the use of the waterboard
however, Abu Zubaydah has appeared to be cooperative,

24 With respect to AI-Nashiri-
reported two waterboard sessions in November 2002, after
which the psychologist/interrogators determined that Al-Nashiri

was compliant. However, after being move

Al-Nashiri was thought to be withholding
information. Al-Nashiri subsequently received additional EITs,

but not the waterboard. The Agency then
- determined Al-Nashiri to be ‘compliant.” Because of the litany of
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techniques used by different interrogators over a relatively short
period of time, it is difficult to identify exactly why Al-Nashiri
became more willing to provide information. However, following
the use of EITs, he provided information about his most current

operational planning and—as opposed to
the historical information he provided before the use of EITs.

225. (TEL- On the other hand, Khalid Shaykh

Muhammad, an accomplished resistor, provided only a few
intelligence reports prior to the use of the waterboard, and analysis of
that information revealed that much of it was outdated, inaccurate, or
incomplete. As a means of less active resistance, at the beginning of
their interrogation, detainees routinely provide information that they
know is already known. Khalid Shaykh Muhammad received 183
lications of the waterboard in March 2003

PoOLICY CONSIDERATIONS AND CONCERNS REGARDING THE DETENTION
AND INTERROGATION PROGRAM

226. VRS 1he EiTs used by the Agency under the
CTC Program are inconsistent with the public policy positions that the

United States has taken regarding human rights. This divergence has

been a cause of concern to some Agency personnel involved with the
Program. - '




Torsecre

Policy Considerations

227. (U//FOUO) Throughout its history, the United States has
been an international proponent of human rights and has voiced
opposition to torture and mistreatment of prisoners by foreign
countries. This position is based upon fundamental principles that are
deeply embedded in the American legal structure and jurisprudence.

+ The Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution, for

example, require due process of law, while the Eighth Amendment
bars "cruel and unusual punishments."

228. (U//FOUQ) The President advised the Senate when
submitting the Torture Convention for ratification that the United

States would construe the requirement of Article 16 of the Convention.

o "undertake to prevent in any territory under its jurisdiction other
acts of cruel, inhuman, or degrading treatment or punishment which
do not amount to torture" as "roughly equivalent to" and "coextensive
with the Constitutional guarantees against cruel, unusual, and
inhumane treatment."8! To this end, the United States submitted a
reservation to the Torture Convention stating that the United States
considers itself bound by Article 16 "only insofar as the term ‘cruel,
inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment’ means the cruel,
unusual, and inhumane treatment or punishment prohibited by the
5th, 8th and/or 14th Amendments to the Constitution of the United
States." Although the Torture Convention expressly provides that no
exceptional circumstances whatsoever, including war or any other
public emergency, and no order from a superior officer, justifies
torture, no similar provision was included regarding acts of "cruel,
inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment." '

81 (U//FOUO) See Message from the President of the United States Transmitting the
Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment,
Sen. Treaty Doc. 100-20, 100® Cong,, 2d Sess., at 15, May 23, 1988; Senate Committee on Foreign
Relations, Executive Report 101-30, August 30, 1990, at 25, 29, quoting summary and analysis
submitted by President Ronald Reagan, as revised by President George H.W. Bush.
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229. (U//FOUQ) Annual U.S. State Department Country
Reports on Human Rights Practices have repeatedly condemned
harshinterrogation techniques utilized by foreign governments. For
example, the 2002 Report, issued in"'March 2003, stated:

[The United States] have been given greater opportunity to- make
good on our commitment to uphold standards of human dignity
and liberty .... [N]o country is exempt from scrutiny, and all
countries benefit from constant striving to identify their
weaknesses and improve their performance . ... [Tlhe Reports
serve as a gauge for our international human rights efforts,
pointing to areas of progress and drawing our attention to new and
continuing challenges.

In a world marching toward democracy and respect for human
rights, the United States is a leader, a partner and a contributor.
We have taken this responsibility with a deep and abiding belief
that human rights are universal. They are not grounded
exclusively in American or western values. But their protection
worldwide serves a core U.S. national interest.

The State Department Report identified objectionable practices in a
variety of countries including, for example, patterns of abuse of
prisoners in Saudi Arabia by such means as "suspension from bars by
handcuffs, and threats against family members, . . . [being] forced
constantly to lie on hard floors [and] deprived of sleep ...." Other
reports have criticized hooding and stripping prisoners naked.

| 230. (U//EFOUQ) In June 2003, President Bush issued a
statement in observance of "United Nations International Day in
Support of Victims of Torture." The statement said in part:

The United States declares its strong solidarity with torture victims
across the world. Torture anywhere is an affront to human dignity
everywhere. We are committed to building a world where human
rights are respected and protected by the rule of law.
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Freedom from torture is an inalienable human right . ... Yet
torture continues to be practiced around the world by rogue
regimes whose cruel methods match their determination to crush
the human spirit . . ..

Notorious human rights abusers.. . . have sought to shield their
abuses from the eyes of the world by staging elaborate deceptions
and denying access to international human rights monitors . . . .

The United States is committed to the worldwide elimination of
torture and we are leading this fight by example. I call on all
governments to join with the United States and the community of
law-abiding nations in prohibiting, investigating, and prosecuting
all acts of torture and in undertaking to prevent other cruel and
unusual punishment. . ..

Concerns Over Participation in the CTC Program

231. m During the course of this Review, a number of
Agency officers expressed unsolicited concern about the possibility of .
recrimination or legal action resulting from their participation in the
CTC Program. A number of officers expressed concern that a human
rights group might pursue them for activities
Additionally, they feared that the Agency
would not stand behind them if this occurred.

232. m()ne officer expressed concern that one day,
Agency officers will wind up on some "wanted list" to appear before
the World Court for war crimes stemniing from activities
Another said, "Ten years from now we're going to be sorry
we're doing this . . . [but] it has to be done." He expressed concern
that the CTC Program will be exposed in the news media and cited
particular concern about the possibility of being named in a leak.

233.




ENDGAME




237. _ The number of detainees in CIA custody

is relatively small by comparison with those in U.S. military custody.
Nevertheless, the Agency, ike the military, has an interest in the
disposition of detainees and particular interest in those who, if not
kept in isolation, would likely divulge information about the

" circumstances of their detention.

238.

|
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to prosecution as a viable possibiliie o lest o cerian
date, however, no decision fuas Docromade b cod st
option.

246.
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CONCLUSIONS

250. m The Agency’s detention and

interrogation of terrorists has provided intelligence that has enabled
the identification and apprehension of other terrorists and warned of
terrorist plots planned for the United States and around the world.
The CTC Detention and Interrogation Program has resulted in the
issuance of thousands of individual intelligence reports and analytic
prodiicts supporting the counterterrorism efforts of U.S.
policymakers and military commanders. The effectiveness of
particular interrogation techniques in eliciting information that might

not otherwise have been obtained cannot be so easily measured,
however.

251. m After 11 September 2001, numerous

Agency components and individuals invested immense time and
~ effort to implement the CTC Program quickly, effectively, and within
the law. The work of the Directorate of Operations, Counterterrorist
Center (CTC), Office of General Counsel (OGQC), Officé of Medical
Services (OMS), Office of Technical Service (OTS) ||| EGN

has beeh especially notable. In effect, they began with
almost no foundation, as the Agency had discontinued virtually all
involvement in interrogations after encountering difficult issues with
earlier interrogation programs in Central America and the Near East.

Inevitably, there also have been some problems with current
activities.

- 252, (5/ANE) OGC worked closely with Do] to determine the
legality of the measures that came to be known as enhanced
interrogation techniques (EITs). OGC also consulted with White
House and National Security Council officials regarding the
proposed techniques. Those efforts and the resulting Do] legal
opinion of 1 August 2002 are well documented. That legal opinion
was based, in substantial part, on OTS analysis and the experience
and expertise of non-Agency personnel and academics concerning
whether long-term psychological effects would result from use of the
proposed techniques.
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253. (57/AE)_The DoJ legal opinion upon which the Agency
relies is based upon technical definitions of "severe" treatment and
the "intent" of the interrogators, and consists of finely detailed
analysis to buttress the conclusion that Agency officers properly
carrying out EITs would not violate the Torture Convention’s
prohibition of torture, nor would they be subject to criminal
prosecution under the U.S. torture statute. The opinion does not
address the separate question of whether the application of standard
or enhanced techniques by Agency officers is consistent with the
undertaking, accepted conditionally by the United States regarding
Article 16 of the Torture Convention, to prevent "cruel, inhuman or
degrading treatment or punishment."

- 254, m Periodic efforts by the Agency to elicit
reaffirmation of Administration policy and Do]J legal backing for the
- Agency’s use of EITs—as they have actually been employed—have
been well advised and successful. However, in this process, Agency
officials have neither sought nor been provided a written statement
of policy or a formal signed update of the Do] legal opinion,
including su¢h important determinations as the meaning and
applicability of Article 16 of the Torture Convention. In July 2003, the
DCI and the General Counsel briefed senior Administration officials
on the Agency's expanded use of EITs. At that time, the Attorney
General affirmed that the Agency's conduct remained well within the
scope of the 1 August 2002 Doj legal opinion.

255. _ A number of Agency officers of various
grade levels who are involved with detention and interrogation

‘actvities are concerned that they may at some future date be
vulnerable to legal action in the United States or abroad and that the
U.S. Government will not stand behind them. Although the current
detention and interrogation Program has been subject to DoJ legal
review and Administration political approval, it diverges sharply
from previous Agency policy and practice, rules that govern
interrogations by U.S. military and law enforcement officers,

statements of U.S. policy by the Department of State, and public
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statements by very senior U.S. officials, including the President, as
well as the policies expressed by Members of Congress, other

. Western governments, international organizations, and human rights
groups. In addition, some Agency officers are aware of interrogation
activities that were outside or beyond the scope of the written Do]
opinion. Officers are concerned that future public revelation of the
CTC Program is inevitable and will seriously damage Agency
officers’ personal reputations, as well as the reputation and
effectiveness of the Agency itself.

256. The Agency has generally provided
good guidance and support to its officers who have been detainin
- and interrogatine high value terrorists using EITs pursuant to

In particular, CTC did a commendable job in directing the
interrogations of high value detainees at“
At these foreign locations, Agency personnel—with one notable

exception described in this Review—followed guidance and
procedures and documented their activities well.

257. (sl"S,( By distinction, the Agency—especially
in the early months of the Program—failed to provide adequate

staffing, guidance, and support to those involved with the detention
and interrogation of detainees in

258. Unauthorized, improvised, inhumane,
and undocumented detention and interrogation techniques were

to the Department of Justice (Do]) for potential prosecution.
incident will be the
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- subject of a separate Report of Investigation by the Office of Inspector
General.

individual who died at Asadabad Base while under interrogation by
an Agency contractor in June 2003. Agency officers did not normally
conduct interrogations at thatloc aﬁonhthe Agency
officers involved lacked timely and adequate guidance, training,

experience, supervision,-or authorization, and did not exercise sound
judgment.

259. _ The Agency failed to issue in a timely

-manner comprehensive written guidelines for detention and
* interrogation activities. ‘Although ad hoc guidance was provided to
many officers through cables and briefings in the early months of
detention and interrogation activities, the DCI Confinement and
Interrogation Guidelines were notissued until January 2003, several
months after initiation of interrogation activity and after many of the
unauthorized activities had taken place.

© 260. _ Such written guidance as does exist to

address detentions and interrogations undertaken by Agency officers
s inadequate. The
Directorate of Operations Handbook contains a single paragraph that

s intended o guice oficrs [N
— Neither this dated guidance nor general

Agency guidelines on routine intelligence collection is adequate to
instruct and protect Agency officers involved in contemporary
interrogation activities

261. _ During the interrogations of two
detainees, the waterboard was used in a manner inconsistent with the
written DoJ legal opinion of 1 August 2002. DoJ had stipulated that
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its advice was based upon certain facts that the Agency had
submitted to DoJ, observing, for example, that ". . . you (the Agency)
have also orally informed us that although some of these techniques
may be used with more than once [sic}, that repetition will not be
substantial because the techniques generally lose their effectiveness
after several repetitions.” One key Al-Oa‘ida terrorist was subjected
to the waterboard at least 183 times
d was denied sleep for a period of 180 hours.
_In this and another instance, the technique of application and volume
of water used differed from the DoJ opinion. |

OMS provided compreliensive medical
where EITs were

OMS did not issue formal meédical guidelines

“until April 2003. Per the advice of CTC/Legal, the OMS Guidelines
were theri issued as "draft" and remain so even after being re—-lssued
in September 2003.

263.

264. f’F&_ Agency officers report that reliance on

analytical assessments that were unsupported by credible intelligence
may have resulted in the application of EITs without justification.
Some participants in the Program, particularly field interrogators,
judge that CTC assessments to the effect that detainees are '
withholding information are not always supported by an objective
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evaluation of available information and the evaluation of the

interrogators but are too heavily based, instead, on presumptions of
what the individual might or should know.

265.

266. The Agency faces potentially serious
long-term political and legal challenges as a result of the CTC
Detention'and Interrogation Program, particularly its use of EITs and
the inability of the U.S. Government to decide what it wﬂl ultimately
do with terrorists detained by the Agency.
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PROCEDURES AND RESOURCES

1. _ A team, led by the Deputy Inspector
General, and comprising the Assistant Inspector General for
Investigations, the Counsel to the Inspector General, a senior
Investigations Staff Manager, three Investigators, two Inspectors, an

Auditor, a Research Assistant, and a Secretary participated in this
Review.

2, ("ES- OIG tasked relevant components for all
information regarding the treatment and interrogation of all
individuals detained by or on behalf of CIA after 9/11. Agency
components provided OIG with over 38,000 pages of documents.
OIG conducted over 100 interviews with individuals who possessed
potentially relevant information. We interviewed senior Agency '
management officials, including the DCJ, the Deputy Director of
Central Intelligence, the Executive Director, the General Counsel, and

the Deputy Director for Operations.- As new information developed,
OIG re-interviewed several individuals.

OIG personnel made site visits to the
interrogation facilities. OIG personnel also
to review 92 videotapes of interrogations

visited
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U.S. Department of Justice

Qffice of Legal Counsel

Office of the Assislant Attarney General Pashington, D.C. 30530
August 1, 2002

Memorandum for John Rizzo
Acting General Counsel of the Central Intelligence Agency

Interrogation of al Qacda Qperative

You have asked for this Office’s views on whether certain proposed conduct would
violate the prohibition against torture found at Section 2340A of title 18 of the United States
Code. You have asked for this advice in the coutse of conducting interrogations of Abu
Zubaydah. As we understand it, Zubaydah is one of the highest ranking members of the al Qaeda
terrorist organization, with which the United States is currently engaged in an international armed
conflict following the attacks on the World Trade Center and the Pentagon on Septeraber 11,
2001. This letter memorializes our previous oral advice, given on July 24, 2002 and July 26,
2002, that the proposed conduct would not vielate this prohibition.

L

Our advice is based upon the following facts, which you have provided.to us. We also
understand that you de not have any facts in your possession contrary to the facts outlined. here,
and this opinion is limited to these facts. If these facts weré to change, this advice would not
necessarily apply. Zubaydsh is currently being held by the United States. The interrogation team
is certain that he has additional information that he refuses to divulge. Specifically, he is
withholding information regarding terrorist networks in the United States or in Saudi Arabia and
information regarding plans to conduct attacks within the United States or against our interests
overseas. Zubaydah has become accustomed to a certain level of treatment and displays no signs
of willingness to disclose further information. Moreover, your intelligence indicates that there is
currently a level of “chatter” equal to that which preceded the September [1-attacks. In light of
the infarmation you believe Zubaydah has.and the high level of threat you believe now exists,
you wish to move the interrogations info what you have described as-an “increased pressure
phase.” .

As part of this increased pressure phase, Zubaydah will have contact only with a new
interrogation specialist, whog he has not met previously, and the Survival, Evasion, Resistance,

" Escape (“SERE”) training psychologist who has been involved with the interrogations since they

began. This phase will likely last no more than several days but could last up to thirty days. In
this phase, you would like 10 employ tea techniques that you believe will dislocate his
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expectations regarding the treatment he believes he will receive and encourage him to disclose
the crucial information mentioned above. These ten techniques are: (1) atlention grasp, (2)
walling, (3) facial hold, (4) facial slap (insult slap), (5) cramped confinement; (6) wall standing,
(7) stress positions, (8) sleep deprivation, (9) insects placed in a confinement box, and (10) the
waterboard. You have informed us that the use of these techniques would be on an as-needed
‘basis and that not all of these techniques will necessarily be used. The interrogation team would
use these techniques in some combination to cenvince Zubaydah that the only way lie can
influence his surrounding environment is through cooperation. You have, however, informed us
that you expect these techniques to be used in some sort of escelating fashion, culminating with
the waterboard, though hot necessarily ending with this technique. Moreover, yowhave-also
orally informed us that although some of these techniques may be used with more than once, that
repetition will not be substantial because the techniques generally lose their effectiveness after
several repetitions. You have also informed us that Zabaydah sustained a wound during his
capture, which is being treated.

Based on the facts you have given us, we understand each of these techniques to be as
follows. The attention grasp consists of grasping the individual with bath hands, one hand on
each side of the collar opening, ina controlled and quick motion. In the same monon asthe
grasp; the individual is-drawn toward the interfogator.

. For walling, a flexible false wall will be constructed. The individual is placed with his
Hidels touehing thiewall: The interrogator pulls the individual forwardand-ther quickly-and
firmly pushes the individual into the wall. It is the individual's shoulder blades that hit the wall.
During this motion, the head and neck are supported with a rolled hood or towel that provides a
c-collar effect to help prevent whiplash. To further reduce the probability of injury, the
individual is allowed to rebound from the flexible wall. You have orally informed us that the
false wall is in part constructed to create a loud sound when the individual hits it, which will
further shock or surprise in the individual. In part, the idea is 1o create a sound that wilt make the
impact seem far worse than it is and that will be far worse than any injury that might result from
the action,

The facial hold is used to hold-the head iimsmabile. One apsn pald is placed oneither
side of the individual's face. The fingertips are kept well away from the individual's eyes.

With the facial slap or insult slap, the interrogator slaps the individual’s face with fingers
slightly spread. The hand makes contact with the area directly between the tip of the individual's
chin and the bottom of the correspoundipg earlobe. The interrogaior invades the individual's
personal space. The goal of the facial slap is not to inflict physical pain that is severe or lasting.
Instead, the purpose of the facial slap is ta induce shock, surprise, andfor humiliation.

Cramped confinement involves the placement of the individual in a confined space, the
dimensions of which restrict the individual’s mavement. The confined space is usually dark.
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The duration of confinement varies based upou the size of the container. For the larger- confined
space, the individual can stand up or sit down; the smaller space is farge enough for thie subject to-
- sitdewn. Confihement in the larger space can last-up to eighteen hours; for the smalier space,
confinement lasts for no more than two hours.

Wall standing is used to induce muscle fatigue. The individual stands about four to five
feet from a wall, with his feet spread approximately to shoulder widile. His arms are stretched
out in front of him, with his fingers resting on'the wall, His fingers support all of his body
weight. The individual is not permitted to-move or fegosition His Hands ar feet.

A variety of siress positions may be used. You have informed us that these positions are
not designed to produce the pain associated with contortions or twisting of the bedy. Rather,
somewhat fike walling, they are designed to produce the physical discomfort associatéd with
muscle fatigue. Two particular siress positions are likely to be used on Zubaydah: (1) sitting on
the floor with legs extended straight out in front of him with his arms raised abave his head; and

_(2) kneeling on the floor vhile leaning back at 4 45 degree angle. You have also orally informed

us that thraugh observing Zubaydah in captivity, you hiave noted that he appears to be quite
flexible despite his wouud

Sleep deprivation mdy be used. You have.indicated that your purpese in using this
technique is to reduce the individual’s ability to think en his-feet and, through the digcomfort

assoviated with tack of steep; tomotivate-him tocooperate: The-effect of suchsleep-deprivation - - ~- - - -

-will generally remit after one or two nights of uninterrupted sleep. You have infétined us that
your, research has revealed that, in rare instances, sonte individuals who are-already predisposed
io psychological problems may experience abnonnal reactions to sleep deprivation. Even in
those cases, however, reactions abate after the individual js permitted to'sleep. Morgover,
personnel with medical training are available to and will intervene in the-unlikely event of an
abnormal reactior. You have orally inforined us that you would not deprive Zubaydah of sleep

~ for more than eleven days at a time and that you have previously kent him awake for 72 hours,

from which no mautal ar physical harm resulted,

You would like to place Zubaydah in a cramped confinement box with an ingsest. You
have informed us that he appears to have a fear of insects. In particular, you would like to tell
Zubsydah that you intend to place a stinging insect into the box with him. You would, however,
place a harmless insect in the box. You have orally informed us that vou would in fact place a

pillar in the box with him..

bmaliy, you would {ike 10 use a technique called the “waterboard.” In f:hzs procedure, the
individual.is bound securely to an isiclined beneh, which is approximately four feet by seven feet.
- The individual's feet are generally elevated. A cloth is placed over the fotehead and eyes. Water

Toyém;r 3




T}%ﬁﬂ

is then applied to the cloil in a controlled manner. As this is done, the cloth is lowered until it
covers both the nose and mouth. Once the cloth is saturated and completely covers the mouth
and nose, air flow is slightly restricted for 20 to 40 seconds due to the presence of the cloth. This
causes an increase in carbon dioxide level in the individual’s bleed. This increase in the carbon
dioxide leve] stimulates increased effort to bréathe. This effort plus the cloth produges the
perception 6f “suffocation and incipient panic,” i.¢,, the perception-of dfowmflg Theindividual
does not breathie any water into his lungs. Dunng those 70 L6 40 seconds, water is continuousty
applied from a height of twelve to twenty-fouf inches, Adfter this-period, the eloth 15 liffed, and
the individual is allowed to breathe unimpeded for three or four ful) breaths. The sensation-of
drowning is immedtately relisved by the remavat of thé eloth. The procedure may then e
repeated, The water i5 usually applied from a canteen cup or smalt \atering can with a spout.
You have orelly informed us that this procedure triggers an aufomalic physxologlcal sensation of
drowning that the individual cannot control even though he may be aware that he is in fact not
drowning. You have also orally informed us that it is likely that this procedure would not last
more than 20 minutes in any one applicati on.

We also understand that a medical expert with SERE experience will be present
throughout this phase and that the procediires will be stopped if deemed medically necessary to
prevent severe mental or physical harm ta Zubaydsh. As mentioned above, Zaibaydah suffered
an injury during his capture. You have informed us that stéps will be taken to ensure that this
injury is not in any way exacerbated by the use of these methods and that adequate medical
atterition will be given to ensure thal itwill heal properly.

1.

In this part, we review the context withirl which these procedures will be applied. You

have informed us that you have taken various steps to ascertain what effect, if any, these

" lechniques would have on Zubaydah’s mental health. These same tectiniques, with the-exception
of the insect in the cramped confined space, have been tsed and continue te be used on some
members of our military personnel during their SERE training. Becduse of the use of these
pracedures in training our own military personnel to resist interrogations, you have consulted
with various individuals who have extensive experience in the use of these techniques. You have
done so in order tu ensure that no prolonged mental harm would result from the use of these
propésed procedures.

Thraugh your corsultation with various mdmduais responsible for such training, you
have Icamcd that these techniques have beenniged ac slame g CONISe J canduct without any

year period that he spent in thos¢ positions, ther were two requests from Congress for
information concerning alleged injuries resulting from the waining. One of these inquiries was
prompted by the temporary physical injury a trainee sustained as result of being placed in 2

TOP 2ECRET 4




TOP/{CRET

confinement box. The other inquiry invelved claims that the SERE training caused two
individuals to engage in criminal behavior, namely, felony shoplifiing and downloading child -
POERG graphy énto a military computer. According to this official, these claims were f

e oreover, he has indicated that during the three sud a half years-he spent 2

f the SERE program, he trained 10 000 students, Of those students, orily two

dropped out of the training following the use of these techniques. Although on rare occasions
some students temporarily postponed the remainder of their training and received psychologlcal
counseling, those students were able fo finish the program without zny :ndlcauon of subsequent
memal health effects.

You have informed us that you
vears of experience with SERE {rainini

' ‘That, g
ten-years, insofar as he is aware, nome of fhe itdividial§stho completed the program. suﬁf'erzd dny
adverse mental health effects. He informed you that there was one pérson who did riot &omplete
the training. That person experienced an adverse mental hedlth reaction that lasted only two
hours. After those two hours, the individual’s symptoms spontaneously. dissipated witlicut
requiring treatment or counseling and no other symptoms were ever reported by this individual.
Acceording to the information you have provided to vs, this assessnient of the use of these
procedures includes the use of the waterboard.

has experience with the use of all of these pracedures 1 a course of condict, with the exception
of the insect in the confinement box and thé waterboard. This memorandum confirms that the
use of these procedures has nof resulted in any reported instances of prolonged mental harrd, and
w instances of immediate and temporary adverse psychological responses to the training.
eported that a small minority of students have had temporary adverse
psychological reactions during training. Of the 26,829 studens trained from 1992 through 2001
in the Air Force SERE training, 4.3 percent of those students had contact with psychology
services. Of-those 4.3 percent, onily 3.2 percent wege pulled from the program-for psychological
reasons. Thus, out of the students trained overall, only 0.14 pescent were ullcd fmm the
program for psychological reasons. Furthermore, altlwugh icated that surveys
of students having completed this training are pot dope, he e¥pressed con: 1danoc that the fraining
did not cause any long-term psychological impact. He based his conclusion on the debriefing of
students that is done after the training. More importantly, he based this assessment on the fact
that although training is required to be extremely stressful in order to be effective, very few
complaints have beeh made regarding the training. During his tenure, in which 10,000 students
were trained, no congressional complaints havé been made. Whité there was ene Inspector
General complaint, it was not due to psychological concems. Moreover, he was aware of only
one letter inquiring about the long-term impact of these techniques from an individual trained
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over twenty years ago. He found that if was impossible to attribute this individual’s symptoms to
his training. hncluded that if there are any long-term psychological effects of the
United States Air Force {raunng using the procedures outlined atiove they “are certainly
minirnal.”

With respect to the waterboard, you have also orally informed us that the Navy continues
to use it in training. You haveinformed us that your on-site psychologists, who have extensive
experience with the use-of the waierbodrd in Navy training, have not encountered any significant
long-terth rhiental health consequences from its use. Your an-site psychologists have also
indicated that JPRA has likewise not reported any significant long-term mental health
consequences from the use of the waterboard. You have informed us that other services ceased
use of the waterboard because it was so successful as an interrogation technique, but not because
of any concerns over any harm, physical or mental, caused by it. It was alsgr g
almost 100 percent effective in producing cooperation among the trainees. m{m
indicated that he had observed the use of the waterboard in Navy training sorme tefi {0

times. Each time fi resulted in cooperation but it did not result in any physical harm to the
student.

You have also revievied the relevant literature and found no empirical data on the effect
of these techniques, with the exception of sleep deprivation. With respect to sleep deprivation,
you have informed us that is not uncommon for someone to be deprived of sleep for 72 hours and

- still peirform excellently on visual-spatial metor tasks and short-term imemory tests. Although

some individuals may experience hallucinations, atcording to the literature you surveyed, those
who experience such psychotic symiptoms have almost always had such episodes prior to the
sleep deprivation. You have indicated the studies of lengthy sleep deprivation showed np
psychosis, loosening of thoughts, flatiening of erhotions, delusions, or paranoid ideas. Tn one
czse, even after eleven days of deprivation, no psychesis orpermanent brain damaged occurzed.
In fact the individual reported feeling almost back to normal after one night’s slieep. Furthier,
based on the experiences with its use in militaty training (where it i induced for up to 48 hours),
you fourid that tarely, if ever, will the individual suffer harm after the sleep deprivation is
discontinued. Instead, the effects remit after a few good nights of sleep.

You have taken the additional step of consulting with U.S. interrogations experts, and
other individuals with oversight over the SERE training process. None of these individuals was
aware of any prolonged psychological effect caused by the use of any of the above techniques
either separately or as a course of conduct. Moreover, you consulted with outside psycholagists
who reported that they were unaware of any cases where long-{erm problems have occurred as a
result of these (echnigues.

Moreover, in consulting with a number of mental health experts, you have learned that
the effect of any of these procedures will be dependant on the individual’s personal history,
cultural history and psychological fendencies. To that end, you have informed us that you have
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cempleied a psychological assessment of Zubadyah. This assessment is besed on interviews with
Zubaydah, observations of kim, and information collected from other sources such as intelligence
and press reports. Our understanding of Zubaydah’s psychological prafile, which we set forth
below, is based on that assessment.

According to this assessment, Zubaydah, though only 31, rose quickly from very low
level mujahedin to third or fourth man in al Qaeda. He has served as Usama Bin Laden's senior
lieutenant. In that capacity, he has managed a network of training camps. -He has been
instrumental in the training of operatives for al Qaeda, the Egyptian Islarhic Jihad, ard sther
terrorist elements.inside Pakistan and Afghanistan. He acted as the Deputy Camp Commander
for al Queda training camp in Afghanistan, personally approving entry and graduation of all
trainces during 1999-2000. From 1996 until 1999, he approv ed all individuals going in and out
of Afghanistan to the training camps. Further, no onie went in and out of Peshawar, Pakistan
without his knowledge-and approval. He also acted as al Qaeda's coordinator of external
contacts and foreign communications. Additionally, he has acted as 4l Qdeda’s counter-
intelligence officer and has been trusted to firid spies withix the organization.

Zubaydah has been involved in every major terrorist. operationt carried out by al Qaeda.
He wids a planner for the Millennium plot to attack U.S. and Israeli targets during the Millennium
celebrations in Jordan. Twa of the ceniral figurés in this plot who were afrestéd have identified
Zubaydah as the supporter of their cell and the plot. He also served as a planner for the Paris
Embassy plot'in 2001. Motzover; he was one of the planners of the September 11 aitacks, Prior
te his capture, he was engaged in planning future terrorist attacks against U.S. interests.

Your psychological assessment indicates that it is belicved Zubaydsah wrote al Qaeda’s
‘manual on resistance techiniques. You also believe that his experiences in al Qaeda make him
well-acquainted with and well-versed in sucl techniques, As part of his role in al Qacda,
Zubaydah visited individualsin prison and helped them upon their reléase. Through this contact
and activities with other al Qaeda mujahedin, you believe that he knows many stories of vapture,
interrogation, and resistance to such interragation, Addifionally, he has spoken with Ayman al-
Zawzhiri, and you believe it is likely that the two discussed Zawahiri's expenences as 4 prisoner
of the Russians and the Egyptians.

Zubaydah stated during interviews that he thinks of any activity-outstde of jihad as
“silly.” He has indicated that his heart and mind are devoted to serving Allah and Islam through
jihad and he has stated that he has no doubts or regrets about committing himsel! to jihad.
Zubaydah believes that the global victory of Islam is inevitahle. You heve irformed us that he
continues to express his unabated desire to kill Ameridans and Jews.

Your psychological assessinent describes his personality as follows. He is “a highly self-
directed individual who prizes his independence.” He has “narcissistic features,” which are
evidenced in the attention he pays to his personal appearance and his “obvious ‘efforts’ to
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deimonstrate that lie is really 4 rather *humblé.and regular guy.™ He is “somzwhat comspulsive”
in how he organizes his environment and business. He is confident, self-agsured, and possesses
an air of authority. While he admits to at times wrestling with how to determine who is an
“innocent,” he has acknowledged celebrating the déstruction of the World Trade Center. He is
inteligent and intellectually curious. He displays “excellent self-discipline.” The assessment
describes him as a perfectionist, persistent, private, and highly capable in his social interactions.
He is very guarded about opening up to others and your assessment repeatedly emphasizes that
he tends not Lo trust others easily. He is alse “quick to recagnize and assess the moods and
motivations of others.” Furthermore, he is proud of his ability to lie and decsive others
successfully. Through his deception he has, among other things, prevented the location of al
Qzeda safehouses and even acquired a United Nations refugee ideptification card.

_ According to yout teporis, Zubaydah does. not have any-pre-existifig mental ¢onditions or
problems that would make him likely to suffer prolonged mental liarm from yourproposed
interrogation methods. Through reading his diaries and interviewing him, you have found no
history of “mood disturbance or other psychialric pathology[.]” “thought disorder(,] - . . enduring
mood or mental health problems.” He is in fact “rémarkably resilient and confident that he can
overcome adversity,” When he encounters stress or low mood, this appears to last only fora
short ime. He deals withi stress by assessing its source, evaluating the coping resources available
to him, and then taking action. Your assessment notes that he is “generally self-sufficient and
relies on his understanding and application of religtous and psycholagical principles, intelligence
aud discipline to avoid and overcome problems.™ Mereover, you have found-that he has a

“religblé and durable suppert system” in liis faith; “the blessings of religious leaders, and
camaraderie of like-minded mujzahedin brothers.” During detention, Zubaydah has managed his
mood, remaining at most points “ciroumspegt, calm, contralled, and deliberate.” He has
maintained this demeanor during aggressive interrogations and reductions in siéep. You describe
that in an initial confrontational incident, Zubaydah showed signs of synipathetic nervous system
erousal, which you think was possibly fear. Although this incident ted him to disclose
intelligence information, he was able to quickly regain his composure, his air of confidence, and
his “strong resolve” not to reveal any information.

Overall, you summarize his primary strengths as the following: ability to focus, goal-
dirested discipline, intellipence; emotional rosilicnes, strest savvy, ability to organize and
manage people, keen observation skills, fluid adaptability {can anticipate and adapt under duress
and with minimal fesources), capacity to assess and exploit the needs of othets, and: abiht‘, to
adjust goals to emerging opportunities.

You anticipate that he will draw upen his vast knowledge of interrogation techriques to

- cape with the interrogation.  Your assessment indicates that Zubaydah may be willing to die o

protect the most important information that he helds. Nonetheless, you are of the view that his
belief that Islam will ultimately dominate the world and that this victory is inevitable- may

provide the chance that Zubaydah will give infarmation and rationalize it solely as a-tempaorary
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setback. Additionally, you believe he may be willing to disclose some information, particularly
information he deems to not be critical, but which may uliimately te useful to us when pieced
together with other intelligence information you have gained.

1.

_ Section 2340A makes it a criminat 6ffense for any person “outside of the Unlted Qrates
{10] commit(] ar attempt{] to commit torture.” Section 2340(1) defines toriurs as:

an act committed by'a person acting under the color of Jaw specifically intended to
inflict severe physical or mental pain or suffering {other than pain or suffering
incidentaf tg lawful sanctions) upon another person within his custody of physical
control, '

18 U.S.C. § 2340(1). As we outlined in our opinien on standards of conduct under Sestion
23404, a violation of 2340A requires a showifg that: (1) the torture oceurred outside-the United
States; (2) the defendant acted under the color of law; (3) the viciim was within the defendant’s
custady or control; {4) the defendant specifically intended to inflict severe pain or suffering; and
(5) that the acled inflicted severe pain or suffering. See Memorandum for John Rizzo, Acting
General Counsel for the Central Intelligence Agency, from Jay S. Bybee, Assistant Attorney
General, Office of Legal Counsel, Re: Standards of Conduct for Interrogarion under 18 U.S.C.
§3 234023494 at 3 (August 1, 2002} (“Section 2340A Memorandum™). You have asked us to
assume that Zubayadah is being held outside the United States, Zubayadah is within U.S.
castody, and the interrogators are acting under thé color of law. Al issue is whether the last twe
elements would be et by the use of the proposed procedures, namely, whether those using these
procedures would have the requisite mental state and whether these procedures would inflict
severe pain or suffering within the meaning of the statute.

Severe Pain or Suffering. In order for pain-or suffering fo rise to the level of toiture, the -
statute requires that it be severe. As we have previously explained, this reaches only extreme
acts. Seé id, at 13. Nonetheless, drawing upon-cases under the Torture Victim Protection Act
(TVPA), which has a definition of torture that is similar to Section 2340°s definition, we found
thal 2 single event of sufficiently intense pain may-fall within this prohibition. See id at26. As
a result, we have analyzed each of these techniques separately. In further drawing upon those
cases, we also bave found that courts tend to take a totality-of-the-circumstances approach and
consider an entire course of conduct to determine whether terture has occurred, See id at 27.
Therefore, in addition to considering each technique separately, we consider them together as a
course of conduct.

Section 2340 defines toriure as the infliction of severe physical or mental pain or
- suffering. We will consider physical pain and-mental pain separately. See 18 U.S.C. § 2340(1).
With respect to physical pain, we previously concluded that “severe pain”™ within the meaning of
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Section 2340 is pam that is difficult for the individual to endure and is of gn intensity akin to the
© pain accompanying serious physical injury. See Section 2340A Memorandum 2t 6. Drawing
upon the TVPA precedent, we have noted that examples of acts inflicting severe pain that typify
torture are, among other things, severe bealings with weapans such as clubs, and the burning of
prisoners. See id. at 24. We conclude below that none of the proposed techniques inlicts such
pain.

The facial hold aid the aliention grasp involve no physical pain. In the absence of such
pain it is obvious that they cannot be said to inflict severe physical pain or suffering. The stress
positions and wall standing both may resuit in muscle fatigue. Each involves the sustained
holding of a position. In wall standing, it will be holding a position in ‘which &ll of the-
individual’s body weight is placed on his finger tips. The stiess positions will likely include
sitting on the floor with legs extended straight out in front and arms raiséd above the head, and
kncc{ing on the floor and leaning back at'a 45 degree angle Any pain associated with nitizéle
fatigue is not of the intensity sufficient to amount to “severe physu:al pain or suffering” under the
statute, nor, despite its discomfbrt, can it bé said to be difficuli fo endure. Moreover, you have
orally informed us tha( no stress position willk be used that could interfere with the healing of
Zubdydah's wound. Therefore, we canclude that these techniques involve discomfort that falls
far below the threshald of severe physical pain.

Similarly, although the confinement boxes (both small and large) are physically
witsmfortable because thair size restricts movernent, they are not'so small as to require the .
individual to cofitort his body to-sit (small box) or stand (large box). You have also orally
informed us that despite hiz wound, Zubaydah remains quite flexible, which would substantially
reduce any pain associated with being placed in the bax. We have no information from the
medical experts you have consulied that the limited duration for which the individual is kept in
the boxes causes any substantial physical pain. As a result, we do not think the use of these
boxes can be said to cause pain that is of the intensity associated with serious physical injury.

The use of one of these boxes with the introduction of afi insect does not alter this
assessment. As we understand it, no actually harmful insect will be placed in the box. Thus,
though the introduction of an insect may preduce trepidation in Zubaydah (which we discuss
below), it certainly ducs nut cavse pliysical pain.

As for <lecp deprivation, it is clear that depriving someone of sleep does not involve
severe physical pain within the meaning of the statute. While sleep deprivation may involve
some physical discomfort, such as the fatigue or the discomfort experienced inthe difficulty of
keeping one’s eyes open, these effects remit aftér the individual is permitted to sleep. Based on
the facts you have provided us, we- gre nol aware of any evidence that sleep deprivation results in
severe physical pain or suffesing. As a result, its use daes not violate Section 23404,

Even those techniques (hat involve physical contact between the interrogatar and the
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individual do not result in severe pain. The facial slap and walling contain precautions to ensure

that no pain even approaching this level results. The slap is delivered with fingers slightly

spread, which you have explzined {o us is designed to be less painful than a closed-hand slap.

The slap is also delivered to the fleshy part of the facs, further reducing any risk of physical

. damage or serious pain. The facial slap does not produce pain that is difficult to endure.
Likewise, walling involves quickly pulling the person forward and then thrusting him against 4
Rexible false wall. You have informed us that the sound of hitting the wall will setually be far
worse than any possible injury to thé individual. The use of the rolled towel around ihe neck also

“téduces any risk of injury. While it may hurt te be puahed against the wall, any pain-experienced
is not of the intensity associated with serious physical injury.

As we understand it, when the vaierboard is used, the subject’s body responds as if the
subject were drowning—even though the subject may be well aware that he is in fact not
drowning. You have informed us that this procedure does not inflict actual physical harm. Thus,
although the subject mnay experience the fear or panic associated with the féeling of drowning,
the waterboard does not inflict physical pain. As we explained in the Section 23404
Mernorandum, “pain and suffering” as used in Section 2340 is best understoad a3 a single
coneept, not distinct concepts of “pain™ as distinguished fram “suffering,” See Section 23404
Memorandum at § n.3. The waterboard, which inflicts no pain or actual harm-whatsdever, does
not, in our view inflict “severe pain or suffering.” Even if one were to parse fhe statute more
finely to attempt to treai “suffering” as a distinet concepl, the waterboard could not be said to
inflict severe suffering. The waterboard is.simply a controlled acute episode, lacking the
connotation of a protracted period of time generally given to suffering.

Finally, as we discussed above, you have informed us 1hat in determining which
procedures to use and how you will use them, you have selected techniques that will not harm
Zubaydah'’s wound. You have also indicated thai numerous steps will be taken to ensure that
none of these procedures in any way interferes witli the proper hesfing of Zubaydali's wound.
You have also indicated that, should it appear at any time that Zubaydgh is experiencing severe
pain or sufféririg, the medical personnel on hand will stop the-use of-any technique.

Eveén when all of these methods are considered combined in an overall course of conduct,
they still would not inflict severe physical pain or suffering. As discussed abdve, a number of
thesc acus result in no phyeical pain, others produes anly physicel discomfort.- You have
indicated that these acts will not be used with substantial repetition, so that there is no possibility
that severe physical pain could arise from such repetition. Accordingly, we conclude that these
acts neither separately nor as part of a course of canduct would inflict severe physical pain or
suffering within the meaning of the statute.

We next consider whether the use of these techniques would inflict sevete menzal pain or
suffering within the meaning of Section 2340. Section 2340 defines severe mental pain or
suffering as “the prolonged mental harm caused by or resulting from™ one of several predicate
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acts. 18 U.S.C. § 2340(2). Those predicate acts are: (1) the intentional infliction or threatened
infliction of severe physical pain or suffering; (2) the administation or application, ér threatened
administration or application of mind-altering substances or other procedures calculated to
disrupt profoundly the senses or the personality; (3) the threat of imminent deathy; or (4) the threat
that any of the preceding acts will be done to another person. See I8 U:S.C. § 2340(2)(A)~(D).

_As we'have explained, this list of predicate acts is exclusive. See Section 2340A Memorandum
at 8. No other acts can support a charge under Section 23404 based on the infliction of severe
men‘al pain or suffering. See id. Thus, if the methods that you have deseribed do tot either in
and of themselves constitute one of these acts or as a course of conduct fulhll the predicate act
requirement, the prohibition lias not been violated. See id. Before eddressing these techniques,
we note thai it is plain that none of these procedures.involves a threat to any third party, the use -
of any kind of drugs, or {or the reasons described above, the infliction of severe physical pain.
Thus, the question is whether any of these acts, separately or as a eourse of conduct, constitutes 2
threat of severe physical pain or suffering, a procedure designzd to disrupt profoundly the senses,
or a threat of imminent death. As we previously explained, whether an actionconstitutes a threat
must be assessed from the standpoint of 2 teasonable person in the-subject’s position. ee id: at
S.

No argument can be made that the afiention grasp or the facial hold constitute threats of
imminent death or are procedures designed to disrupt profoundly the senses or personality. In
general the grasp and the facial hold will startle the subject, produce fear, or even insult him. As
you have fiforimed us, the use of these techniques. is not accompanied by 2 specifi¢ veibal, threat
of severe physical pain or suffering. To the extent that these techniques could be considered a
threat of severe physical pain or suffering, such a threat would have to be inferred from the acts
themselves: Because these actions themselves involve no pain, neither could be interpreted by a
reasonable person in Zubaydah's pasition to constitute a threat of severe pain or suffering.
Accordingly, these two techniques are not predicate acts within the meaning of Section 2340.

The facial slap jikewise falls ourside the set of predicate acts. It plainly is not a threat of
imminent death, under Section 2340(2)(C), or a procedure designed to disrupt profoundly the
senses or-personality, under Section 2340(2)(B). Though it may hurt, as discussed above; the
effect is ane of smarting or stinging and surprise or humiliation, but not severe pain. Nor does it
alone constitute a threat of severe pain or suffering, under Section 2340{2)(A). Like the facial
hold and the avention grasp, the use of this slap is not accompanied by a specific verbal threat of -
further escalating violence. Additionally, you have informed us thet in one use this technique

- will typically involve at most wwo slaps. Certainly, the use of this slap may dislodge any
expectation that Zubaydah bad that he would not be touched in a phiysically aggressive manner. -
Nonetheless, this alteration in his expectations could hardly be construed by a reasenable person
in his situation to be tantamount to a threat of severe physical pain oy sulfering. At most, this
technique suggests that the circumstances of his corifinement and interogation have changed.
Therefore, the facial slap is nat within the statute’s exclusive list of predicate acts.
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Walling plainly is nol a procedure calculated to disrupt profoundiy the senses or
personality. While wal[mg invalves what might be characierized as rough haridling, it does not
involve the threat of imminent death or, as discussed above, the iafliction of severe physical pain.
Moreover, once again we understand that use of this tcchmque wilk not bz accompanied by any
specific verbal threat that violence will ensue absent coaperation. Thus, like the facial slap,
walling can only constitute s threat of sévere.physical pain if a reasonable person would infer
such 4 threat from the use of the technique itself. Walling does not in and of itself inflict sévere
pain or suffering. Like the facial stap, walling may alter the sitbject’s.expectation as-to the
treatment he believes he will receive. Nonetheless, the cheracter of the action falls so far short of
inflicting severe pain or suffering within.the meaning of the statute that-eved if he inferred that
greater aggressiveness was to follow, the type of actions thiat ¢ould be reasonably be antiejpated
would still fall below ariything sufficient to inflict severe physicel pain or suffering under the
statuie, Thus, we conclude that this technique falls ouiside the proscribed predicate acts.

Like walling, siress positions and wall-standing are not procedures caleufated to disrupt
profoundly the senses, nor are they threats of imminent death. These procedutes, as discussed
above, involve the use of muscle fatigue (o encourage cooperation and do not themselves

-constitute the infliction of severe physical pain or suffering. Moreover, there is no aspect of
violence 1o either technique that remotely suggests future severe pain or suffering from which
such a threat of future harm could be inferred. They simply involve forcing the-subject to remain
in uncomfortable positions. While these acts may indicate to the subject that he may be placed in
" il:ese positions again if he does not disclose information, the use of these technigiles would not
suggest to a reasonable person in the subject’s position that he is being threatened with severe
pain or suffering. Accordingly, we conclude that these two procedures do nol constitute any of
the predicate acts set forth in Section 2340(2).

" As with the other techniques discussed so far, cramped confinement is ot a threat of
-imminent death. It may be argued that, focusing in part on the fact that the boxes will be without
light, placement in these boxes would constituie a procedure designed to disrupt profoundly the

senses. As we explained in our recent opinion, however, to “disrupt profoundly the senses™
technique must produce an extreme effect in the subject. See Section 2340A Mémerandum 31‘
10-12. We have previously concluded that this requires that the procedure cause substantial
interference with the individual’s cognitive abilities or fundamentally alter his personality. See
id at 11. Moreover, the statuie requires that such procedures must be calculated to produce this
crfect See id. at 10; 18 U.S.C. § 234002)(B).

With respect to the small confinement box, you have infarmed us that he would spend at
most two hours in this box. You have informed us that your purpose in using these boxes is not
10 interfere with his senses or his personalily, but to cause him physical discomfort thiat will
encourage him o disclose critical information. Moreover, your imposition of time limitations on
‘ihe use of either of the boxes also indicates thai the use of these bexes is not designed or
calculuted to disrupt profoundly the senses or personality. For the largerbox, in which he can

TW&ET 13




o

Toynfm

both stand and sit, he may be placed iri his box for.up to cighteen hours at a time, while you have
informed us that he will never spend more than an hour at time in the smaller box. These time-
limits further ensure that no profound disruption of she senses or personality, were it evén
possible, would result. As such, the use of the confinement boxes does not constitute a
procedure calculated to disrupt prafoundly the senses or personality.

Nor does the use of the boxes threaten Zubaydah with sévere physical pain or suffering.
While additional time spent in the boxes may be threatened, their use is not accompanied by any
express threats of severe physical pain or suffering. Like the suess positions and walling,
placement in the boxes is physica!ly uncomfortable but any such discomfort does not rise to the
level of severe physical pain or suffering, Accordingly, a reasonable person in the subject’s
posmon would not infer from. the use of ths technique thaf severe physical pain is thenext swep
in his interrogator’s treatment of him. Therefore, we conclude that the use of the confinement
boxes does not fall within the statute’s required predicate acts.

In addition to using the ¢onfinement bokes alone, you zlso would like fo introduce an
iiisect into one of the boxes with Zubaydah. As we understand it, you plan to inform Zubaydzh
that you are going to place a stinging insect into the box, but you will actually place a liarmless
insect in the box, such as a caterpiliar. If you do so, to ensure that you are outside the predicate
act requirement, you must inform him that the insects will not have a sling that would producs
death or severe pain. If, however, you were ta place the insect in the box without informing him
that you aré -dsing 5o, then; in arderte. not eomm;t : ptcdwatc act, you should m:ct aﬁ:maﬁvzi;r
lead. b_tm to bclreve tha‘t any mscc s presedt. :

the approaches we have described, thie insect’s placement in the box would not consntute a threat
of severe physical pain or suffering to a reasonable person in his position. An individual placed
in a box, even an individual with a fear of insécts, would not reasonably feel threatened with
severe physical pain or suffering if a caterpillar was placed in the box. Further, you have
informed us that you are nol aware that Zubaydah has any allergies to insects, and you have nat

- informed us of any other factors that would cause a reasonable person in that same situation to
- believe that an unknown insect would cause him severe physical pain or death. Thus, we

conelude that the placement of the insect in the confinement box with Zubaydah would not
constitute a predicate act. :

Sleep deprivaticn alse clearly does not involve a thieat of imminent death. Although it

- produces physical disconifort, it cannot be said to constitute a threat of severe physical pain or

suffering from the perspective of 4 reasonable person in Zubaydah’s position. Nor could sleep
deprivation Constitute a procedure caleulated to disrupt profoundly the senses, so long as sleep
deprivation (as you have informed us is your intent) is used for limited periads, before
hallucinations or other profound disruptions of the senses would occur. To be sure, sleep
ceprivation may reduce the subject’s ability to think on his feet. Indeed, you indicate that this is'
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. the intended result. His mere reduced ability to evade your questions and resist answering does
not, howeveér, rise to the level of disruption rcqulred by {iis statute. As we explained above, a
distuption within the tmeaning of the statute is an extreme one, substantially interfering with an
individual’s cognitive abilities, for example, inducing hallucinatians, or driving him (o engage in _
uncharacleristic self-destructiva behavior. See infra 1'3; Section 2340A Memoranduin av 1.
Therefore, the limited use of sleep deprivation does not constitute one of the required predicate
acis.

We find that the use of the waterboard constitufes a threat of imminent death. As you
have explained the waterboard procedure 1o us, it creates in the subject the uncontrollable
physjological sensation thar the subject is drowning. Although the procedure will be monitored
by persorine] with medical (raining and extensive SERE school experiencs with this progedure
who will ensure the subject’s mental and physical safety, the subject is not aware of any of these
precautions. From the vantage point of any reasonable person undergoing this procedure in such
circumstances, lie would feel as if he is drowning at very moment of the procedure due to the
unconirollable physiological sensation he is experiencing. Thus, this procedure cannot be
viewed as too uncertain to satisfy the imminence requirement. Accordingly, it constitutes a
threat of imminent death and fulfills the predicate act requiretuemt under the statute.

Although the waterboard constitutes a threat.of imminent death; prolonged mental harmn
must ponetheless result (o violate the statutory prohibition on infliction of severe mental pain or
suffering. See Section 23404 Memorandum at 7. We have previously concluded that proloaged
mental harm is mental harm of some lasting duration, e.g:, mental harti lasting monthis or years.
See id. Prolonged nextal harm is not simply hie stress experienced in, for-example, an
interrdgation by state-polive. See id. Based on your research into the use of these methods at the
SERE school and cousultaiion with others with expertise in the field of psychblogy and
intertogation, you do not anticipate that any prélonged mental harm would result from the use of
the waterboard. Indeed, you have advised us that the relief is almost immediate when the cloth is
removed from the nose and mouth. In the absence of prolonged mental harm, no sevére raéntal
pain or suffering wonld have heen inflicted, and the use of these procedures would mint constitute
torture within the meaning of th‘ statule.

When these acts are considered as a course of conduct, we arc unsure whether these acts
may constitute a threat of severe physical pain or suffering. You have indicated to us that you
liave not determined either the order or the precise timing for implementing these procediues. It
is conceivable that these procedures ceuld be used in a course of escalating conduct, moving
incrementaily and rapidly from leasi physically initrusive, e.g., facial hold, to the most physical
contact, e.g., walling or the waterboard. As we understand it, based on his treatment so far,
Zubaydsh has come to expect that no physical harm will be done te him. By using these
techmiques in increasing iniensity and in rapid succession, the goal would be to dislodge this
expectation. Based on the facts you have provided to us, we cannot say definitively that the
entire course of conduct would cause a reasonable person to'believe that he is being threatened
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with severe pain or suffering within the meaning of section 2340, On the other hand, however.
under certain circumstances—for example, rapid escalation in the use of these technigues
cuiminating in the waterboard (which we acknowledge constitutes  threat of imminent death)
accompanied by verbal or oiher suggestions that physical violence will follow—might cause a
reasonable fierson'to believe that they arc faced with such a threat. Without more information,
we are uncertain whether the course of conduct would cogistitute a predicate act under Section
2340(2).

Even if the course of coriduct were thought to pose a threat of physical pain or suffering,
it would nevertheless—on the facts before us—not constitute a violation of Section 2340A. Not
only must the course of conduct be a predicate act, but also those who use the procedure must
actually cause prolonged mental harm. Based on the information that you bave provided fo us,
indiceting that no evidence exists that this course of conduct produces any prolonged mental
harm, we conclude that a course of conduct using these procedures and culminating in the
waterboard would not violate Section 2340A.

Specific Inteni. To violate the stitute; an individual must have the specific inteat w
inflict severe pain or suffering. Because specific intent is an element of the offense, the absence
of specific intent negates the charge of torfure. As we previously opined, w have the required
specific intent, an individual must expressly intend to cause such severe pain or suffering. See
© Section 2340A Memorandum at 3 citing Carter v. United States, 530 1U.8. 255, 267 (2000). We
have further found that if a defendant acts with the good faith belief that his actions will not
cause such suffering, he has not acted with specific intenl. See id. at 4 citing South Arl. Lmtd.
Purshp, of Tenn. v. Reise, 218 F.3d 518, 531 (4th Cjr. 2002). A defenddnt acts in geod faith
when he has an honest belief that his actions will hot resultin sevére pain or suffering. See id.
citing Cheek v. United States, 498 U.S, 192, 202 (19%1). Although an henest belief need not be
reasonable, such a belief is easier-to establish where there is a reasonable basis for it. See-id. ai S.
Good faith may be established by, among other things; the reliange on the advice of experts. See
id at8. .

Based on the information you hdve provided us, we believe that those carrying out these
procedures would not have the specific intent to infliet severe physical pain or suffering. The
objective of these techiniques is not to cause severe physical pain. First, the constant presence of
personnel with medical training who have the authority to stop the interrogation should it appear
it is madirally necessary indirates fhat it is nol your intend to cause severe physical pain. The
personnel on site have extensive experience with these specific techniques as they are used in
SERE schoal training. Second, you have informed us that you are taking steps to ensure that
Zubaydah’s injury is.not worsened or his recovery impeded by the use of these techniques.

Third, as you have described themn to us, the proposed techniques involving physical
contact between the interrogator and Zubaydah actually contain precautions to prevent any
. seripus physical harm to Zubaydah. In “walling,” a rotled hoed or towel will be used to prevent
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whiplash and he will be permitted o rebound from the fléxible wall ta reduce the likelihood of
injury. Similarly, in the “facial held,” the fingertips will be kept wetl away from the his eyes to
ensure that there is noinjury to them. The purpose of that facial hold is notinjure him but to
hold the head immabile. Additionally, while-the stress positions and wall standing will
undoubtedly result in physical discomfort by tiring the muscles, it is abvious that these positicns
are noi intended to produce the kind of extreme pain required by the statute.

Furthennore, no specific intent to cause severe mental pain or suffering appears to be
present. As we explained in our recent opinion, an individual must have the specific intent to
cause prolonged wmental harm in order to have the specific intent to inflict severe mental pain or
suffering. See Section 2340A Memorandum at 8. Prolonged mental harm is substantial mental
harm of a sustained duration, e.g., harm lasting months or even years after the acts were inflicted
upon the prisoner. As we indicated above, a good faith belief can negate this element.
Accordingly, if an individual conducting the interrogation‘hes a good faith belief that tive
procedures he will apply, separately or togéther, wotld not result in prolonged-mental harm, that
individual lacks (fe requisite specific intent. This conclusion conceming spegific intent is further
bolstered by the due diligence that has been conducted concerning the-effects of these
interrogation procedures:

The mental health experts that you have consulted have indicated that the psychological
impact of a course of conduct must be assessed with refererice to the subject’s psychological
history and current mental health status. The healthier the individual, the less likely that the use
of any one procedure or set of procedures as a course of conduet will result in prolonged mental
harm. A comprehensive psychological profile of Zubaydah has been created. In creating this
pfoﬂlc your personnel drew on direct mtcn'lc\vs, Zubaydah s dmnes obsen ation of Zubqydah
since his captyre, and § 8 - e ence and press repars..

As we indicated above, you have informed us that your proposed ml&n ogation methods.
have been used and continue to bé used-in SERE training, It is our understanding that these
techniques are not used one by one in isolation, but as a full course of conduct t& resemhle a real
interrogation. Thus, the information derived from SERE training bears both upon the impact of
the use of the individual techniques and upon their use as a course of conduct. You have found
that the use of these methods together or separately, including the use of fhe waterboard, hias not
resulied in any negative long-terin mental health consequences. The continued use of these
methods without merieal health consequences to the trainees indicates that it is kighly improbable
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that such consequences would result here. Because you have conducted the due diligence 1o
determine that these procedures, eithier aione ar in combination, do not produce prolenged metal

“harm, we believe that you do not meet thie specific intent requirement necessary to violate

Section 2340A.

You lrave also informed us that you have réviewed the relevant literature on the subject,
and consulted with cutside psychologists. Your reviaw of the liierature uncovered no eniipirical
data on the use of these pracedures, with the exception of sleep deprivation for which no long-
term healih consequences resulted. The outside psychologists with whoms you ¢onsyltad
indicated were unaware of any cdses where long-ttrm problems have occurred as a result of these
techniques.

As described abave, it appears you have condueted an extensive inquiry to ascertain what
impact, if any, these procedures individually and as 4 caurse of conduct would have on
Zubaydah. You have consulted with interrogation experts, inctuding those with substantial
SERE schoo] experience, consuited with outside psychologists, completed a psychological
assessment and reviewed the relevant literature on this topic. Based on this inquiry, vou believe
that the use of the procedures, including the waterboard, and as a course of coriduct would not
result in prolonged mental harm. Reliance on this information about Zubaydah and about the

effect of the use of these techniques mote generally demonstrates the presence of a good faith

beiief that no proJanged mental harm will result from using these methods in the interrogation of
Zubaydah. Moreover, we think that this represents not only an honest belief but alse a
reasonable belief based on the information-that you have supplied to us. Thus, we believe that
the specific intent to inflict prolonged mental is not present, ané consequently, there is no
specific intent 1o inflict severe mental pain or suffering. Accordingly, we conclude (hat on the
facts in this case the use of these methods separately or a course of conduct would not violate
Section 2340A.

Based on the foregoing, and based on the facts that vou have provided, we conclude that
the interrogation procedures that you propose would riot violate Section 2340A.- We-wish to
emphasize that this is our best readiug of the law; however, you should be aware that there are no-
cases construing this statute; just as there have been no proseeutions brought under it.

Please let us know if we can be of further assistance.
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Guidelines on Confinement Conditions For CIA Detainses

- These Guldellnes govern the- condltxons of confinement for

* CIA Detainees, who are personsg.

fac1lltles that are under the
acilities”

1on
contxrol of

These Guidelines recognize that
environmental and other conditlons, as- well as particularized
considerations affecting any given Detention Facility, will,
vary from case to case and. locatlon to location.

1. Hinimums ) =

Due provxslon mast be taken to protect the health and
safety of al IA Detainees, including basic levels of
medical care

2. Implementing Procedures
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Guidelines on Confinement Conditions for CIA Detainees

'5, Rssponsible CIA Officar '

The Dlrector, DCIL Counterterrorlst Center shall
ensure (a) that, at all times, a specific Agency staff
employee (the *“Responsible CIA Officexr*) is designated as
responsible for each specific Detention Facility, . (b) that

- each Responsible CIA Officer has bheen provided with a copy of

these Guidelines and has reviewed and signed the attached

'~ Acknowledgment, and (c¢) that each Responsible CIA Officer and
~each CIA officer participating i

individuals detainad pursuant to

cnowledgment attached thereto.
Subject to operational and security considerations, -the
Responsible CIA Officer shall be present at, or visit, each
Detention Facility at 1ntervals appropriate to the
circumstances.

-+ I

APPROVED:

Jaelea

ral Intelligence Date
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Guidelines on Confinement Conditions for CIA Detainees

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

- I, , am the Responsible CIA Officer for the
Detention Facillty known as . By my signature .

below, I acknowledge that I have read and understand and will

comply with the ‘Guldellnes on Confinement Condltlons for CIa .

Detainees* of . , 2003.

ACKNOWLEDGED:

Name . " Date

TOP
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CLASSIFIED TOP S

Thesge Guxdelznes address the conduct of interrogations of
persons who are detained pursuant to the authorities set

These Guidelines complement internal Directorate of
Operations guidance relating to the conduct of
interrogations.. In the event of any inconsistency between
existing DO guidance and these Guldellnes, the provisions of
these Guldellnes shall control.

1. Permi551bla Interrogation Techniquas

Unless otherwise approved by Headquarters, CIA
of ficers and other personnel acting on behalf of CIA may use
only Permissible Interrogation Techniques. Permissible
Interrogation Techniques consist of both (a) Standard
Techniques and {b) Enhancéd Technicmes.

§_gn§g;_~ggghnlgnes are technlques that do not
incorporate physical or substantial psycholegical pressure.
These technigques include, but are not limited to, all lawful
forms of questioning. employed by US law enforcement and
military interrogation personnel. Among Standard Technigues
are the usé of isolation,; sleep deprivation not to exceed
72 hours, reduced caloric intake (so long as the amount is
calculated to maintain the general health of the detainee),
deprivation of reading material, use of loud music or white
noise (at a decibel level calculated to avoid damage to the

detainee’s hearing), and the use of diap
ﬁerlads Iii iiiii noi to exceaed 72 hours,

TOP
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Guideline on Interrdiations Conducted Pursuant to the

- Enhanced Techpiques are techniques that do
incorporate physical or psychological pressure beyond
Standard Techniques. The: use of each specific Enhanced
Technique must be approved by Headquarters in advance, and
may be employed only by approved interrogators for use with
the specific detainese, with appropriate medical and
psychological participation in the process. These technlques
are, the attention grasp, walling, the facial hold, the

- facial slap {insult slap). the abdominal slap, cramped

confinement, wall standing, stress positions, sleep
deprivation beyond 72 hours, the use of diapers for prolonged
periods, the use of harmless insects, the water board, and
such other techniques as may .be specifically approved

‘pursuant to paragraph 4 below. The use of each Enhanced

Technique is subject to specific temporal, physxcal, and

- related conditions, including a competent evaluation of the

medical and psychologxcal state of -the detaznee.
2. Madical and ngcholpgical Personnel

Appropriate medical and psychological personnel shall
be eadily,available_for consultation and
travel to the interrogation site during all detainee
interrogations employing -Standard Techniques, and appropriate
medical and psychologlcal personnel must be on site during
all detainee interrogations employing Enhanced Techniques.

In each case, the medical and psychological personnel shall
suspend the interrogation if they determine that significant
and prolonged physical or mental injury, paln, or suffering
is likely to result if ‘the interrogation is not suspended,

In any  such instance, the interrogation team shall
immediately report the facts to Headquarters for management

and legal review to. determ;ne whether the 1nterrogat10n may
be resumed '

3. Interrogation Peraonmel

The Dlrecéor, DCI Counterterrorist Centéer shall

ensure that all persomnel directly engaged ]iliil!l!l. I|I|
interrogation of persons detained pursuant
mmwe been appropriately screene rom
medical, psychological, and security standpoints), hawve
rev;ewed these Guidelines, have received appropriate training

in their implementation, and have completed the attached
Acknowleédgment.
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. Guideline on Interrogations Conducted Pursuant .to the

4. Approvals Regquired

‘Whenever feasible, advance approval.is. required for
the use of Standard Techniques by an lnterrogatlon team. In
‘all instances, thelr use shall be documented in cable
traffic, Prior approval in wrltlng {e.g., by written
memorandum or in cable trxaffic) from the Director, DCI
. Counterterrorist Center, with the concurrence of the Chief,
CIC Legal Group, is requlred for. the use of any Enhanced
Technique(s), and may be provided only where D/CTC has
determined that- (a) the specific detainee is believed to
possess information about risks to the citizens of the United
‘States or other nations, (b) the uge of the Enhanced
Technique({s) 'is appropriate in order to obtain that
information, (¢) .appropriate medical and psychological
.personnel have- concluded that the use of the Enhanced
Technique({s) is not éxpected to produce “severe physical or
mental pain or suffering,” and (d) the personnel authorized
-to .employ the Enhanced. Technlqne(s) .have completed the
attached Acknowledgment. Nothing in these Guidelxnes alters
the rlght to act in self- defense ’

5. Recordkeeping

In each 1nterrogat10n session in which an Enhanced
Technique is employed, a contemporaneous record shall be
created setting forth the nature and duration of each such
technique employed, the identitieés of those present, and a
citation to the required Headquarters approval cable. This
" information, which may be in the form of a cable, shall be

provided to Headquarters.

APPROVED: C : ’

Intelligence i 7

Direftor of\ Cel Date
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I, .{ acknowledge that I have read and
understand and will comply with the *Guidelines on
. Interrogations Conducted Puxsuant to

 ACKNOWLEDGED:

_Ngme

Date-.
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DRAFT OMS GUIDELINES ON MEDICAL AND PSYCHOLOGICAL SUPPORT TO
' DETAINEE INTERROGATIONS -
-September 4, 2003

The following guidelines offer general references for medical officers supporting
the detention of terrorists captured and turned over to the Central Intelligence Agency for

mten'ogatlon and debneﬁng There are three different contexts in which these gmdelmes '
_ 1idy be applied: (1) during the petiod of initial interrogation, (2) duting the more ST
sustained ieriod oi' debrieﬁni' at an intefrogation site, and (3 :

INTERROGATI ON SUPPORT
+  Captured terronsts turned over o the C.LA. for | interrogation may be subJected to
a wide range of legally sanctioned techniques, all of which are also used on U.S. military
personnel in SERE training programs. These are designed to psychologically “dislocate”
the detainee, maximize his feeling of vulnerability and helplessness, and reduce or
elnmnate his will to resist our efforts to obtain critical intelligence.

) Sancuoned interrogation techmques must be spec1ﬁcally approved in advance by
the Ducctor CTC in the case of each mdlvxdual case. They include, in approxlmately
ascendmg degree of mtensﬁy

Standard measures (i.e., w1thout physmal or substantial psychoioglcal pressure)
Shaving

Stripping :
:  Diapering (generally for penods not greater than 72 hours)
! Hooding
Isolation '
White noise or loud music (at a decibel level that will not damage hearing)
Continuous light or darkness
Uncomfortably cool environment

Restricted diet, including reduced caloric intake (sufﬁczent to maintain
* general health)

Shackling in upright, sitting, or horizontal position
' ‘Water Dousing
, Sleep.deprivation (up to 72 hours)

‘Enhanced measures (with physical or psychological pressure beyond the above)
‘ Attention grasp _
Facial hold
Insult (facial) slap

TOP




Abdominal slap
Prolonged diapering
Sleep deprivation (over 72 hours)
Stress positions :
--on knees, body slanted forward or backward
- --leaning with forehead on wa]l
Walling

Cramped confinement (Conﬁnement boxes)
Waterboard ' .

" In all instances the gcneral goal of these techmques isa psychologlcal impact, and
not some physical effect, with a spec1fic goal of “dislocat[ing] his expectations regarding
the treatment he believes he will receive....”  The more physical techniques are
: dehvered in-a manner carefully limited to avo1d serigus physical harm. The slaps for

example are ‘designed “to mduce shock, surprise, and/or humiliation” and “not to inflict
physical pain that is severe or lasting.” To this end they must be delivered i ma
specifically circumscribed mauner, e.g., with fingers spread. Walling is-only against.a
springboard designed to be. loud and bouncy (and cushion the blow). All walling and

most attention grasps are-delivered only with the subject’s head sohdly supported with a
towel to avoid extension-flexion i mjury _

OMS is respon31b1e for assessmg and monitoring the health of all Agency
detainees subject to “enhanced” interrogation techniques, and for determining that the
authorized administration of these techniques would not be expected to cause serious or

permanent harm.! "DCI Guidelines” have been issued formalizing these responsibilities,
and these should be read directly. :

Whenever feasible, advauce approval is’ requlred to use any measures beyond
standard measures; technique-specific advanced approval is required for all “enhanced”
. measures and is conditional on on-site medical and psychological personnel” confirming =

from direct detainee examination that the enhanced techmque(s) is not expected to
produce “severe physical or mental pain of suffering.” As a practical matter, the
detainee’s physical condition must be such that these interventions will not have lasting

! The standard used by the Justice Department for “mental” harm is “prolonged mental
harm,” i.e., “mental harm of some lasting duration, e.g., mental harm lasting months or years.”

“In the absence of prolonged mental harm, no severe mental pmn or suffering would have been
inflicted.” Memorandum of August 1, 2002, p. 15.

Unless the watetboard is being used, the medical officer can be a physician or a PA; use ef the
‘waterboard requires the presence of a physician.
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-effect, and his 'psychological state strong enough that no severe psychological harm will
result. - '

The medical implications of the DCI guidelines are discussed below.

General intake evaluation

New detainees are to have a thorough initial medical assessment, with a complete,
documented history and physical addressing in depth any chronic or previous medical

_and weight should be recorded, and blood work drawn

Documented subsequent medical rechiecks should be performed on a regular basis

Although brief, the data should reflect what was checked and include negative findings.

. Medical treatment

- Itis important that adequate medical care be provided to detainees, even those
.. undergoing enhanced interrogation. Those réquiring chronic niedications should receive
them, acu

te medical problems should be treated, and adequate fluids and nutrition
proviced.
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The basic diet during the period of enhanced interrogation need not be palatable,
but should irclude adequate fluids and nutrition. Actual consumption should be .
.monitored and recorded. Liguid Ensure (or equivalent) is a good way to assure that there

is adequate nutrition. .
Individuals refusing adequate liquids during this
stage should have fluids administered at the earliest signs of dchydration.ﬂ

I i o Gicsion
about adequacy of fluid intake, uninary output also should be monitored and recorded.

Uncomfortably cool environments

Detainees can safely be placed in uncomfortab
lengths of time, ranging from hours to days.

Core body temperature falls after more than 2 hours at an ambient temperature of
10°C/50°F. At this temperature increased metabolic rate cannot compensate for heat
loss. The WHO recommended minimum indoor temperature is 18°C/64°F. The
“thermoneutral zone” where minimal compensatory activity is required to maintain core
temperature is 20°C/68°F to 30°C/86°F . Within the thermoneutral zone, 26°C/78°F is

considered oitimalli comfortable for lightly clothed individuals and 30°C/86°F for naked

. individuals. '
If there is any possibility that ambient temperatures are below the thermoneutral
range, they should be monitored and the actual temperatures documentec
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At ambient tenﬁperatures below 18°C/64°F detainees should be monitored for the
development of hypothérmia,

White noise or.loud musu:

. As a practical guide, there is no permanent hearing risk for continuous, 24-hours-
a-day exposures to sound at 82 dB or lower; at 84 dB for up to 18 hours a day; 90 dB for
up to 8 hours, 95 dB for 4 hours, and 100 dB for 2 hours, If necessary, instruments can
be provided to measure these ambient sound levels.

Shackting

Shackling in non-stressful positions requires only monitoring for the development

of iressure sores with aﬁroinate treatment and adlustment of the shackles as reimred




Assuming no medical contraindications are found, extended periods (up Lo 72
hours) in a standing position can be approved if the hands are no higher than head level
and weight is borne fully by the lower extremities.




Sleex) ‘deprivation

- The standard approval for sleep deprivation, per se (without regard to shackling position)
is 72 hours. Extension of sleep deprivation beyond 72 continuous hours is considered an

NOTE: Examinations performed during periods of sleep depﬁvaﬁon should include the

current number of hours without sleep; and, if only a brief rest preceded this period, the
specifics of the previous deprivation also should be recorded.

- Cramped confinement (Confinement boxes)

D

small box is allowable up to 2 hours. Confinement in the large box is limited to 8

Tov-seerst |
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Waterboard : -

This is by far the most traumatic of the enhanced i interrogation techniques. The

historical context here was limited knowledge of the use of the waterboard in SERE
training (several hundred trainees experience it every year or two). 'Tn the SERE model
the subject is immobilized on his back, and his forehead and eyes covéred with a cloth.
A stream of water is directed at the upper lip. Resistant subjects then have the cloth -
lowered to cover the nose and mouth, as the water continues to be applied, fully :
saturating the cloth, and precluding the passage of air. Relatively little water enters the ~ .
mouth. The occlusion (which may be partial) lasts no more than 20 seconds. On removal
of the cloth, the subject is immediately able to breathe, but continues to have water

directed at the upper lip to prolong the effect. This process can continue forseveral

minutes, and involve up to 15 canteen cups.of water. Ostensibly the ptimary desired

effect derives from the sense of suffocation resulting from the wet cloth temporanly

occluding the nose and mouth, and psychological impact of the contintied application of
water after the cloth is removed. SERE trainees usually have only a single exposure to

this technique, and never more than two; SERE trainers consider it their most effecnve
technique, and deem it virtually irresistible in the b:ammg setting.
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The SERE training program has applied the waterboard technique (single
exposure) to trainees for years, and reportedly there have been thousands of applications
without significant or lasting medical complications. The procedure nonetheless carries
some risks, particularly when repeated a large number of times or when applied to an

—-—

- individual less fit than.a typical SERE trainee, Several medical dimensions need to be
. monitored to ensure the safety of the subject.

In our limited experience, extensive sustained use of the waterboard can introduce

- new risks. Most seriously, for reasons of physical fatigue or psychological resignation,

the subject may simply give up, allowing excessive filling of the airways and loss of
consciousness. -An unresponsive subject should be righted immediately, and the
interrogator should deliver a sub-xyphoid thrust to expel the water. If this fails to restore

- normal breathing, aggressive medical intervention is required. Any subject who has

reached this degree of compromise is not considered an appropriate candidate for the

waterboard, and the physician on the scene can not approve further use of Lhe waterboard
without specific C/OMS consultation and approval.

A rigid gmde to medically approved use. of the waterboérd in essentially healthy

" individuals is not possible, as safety-will depend on how the water is applied and the

specific response each time itis used. The following general’ gmdelmes are based on
very limited knowledge, drawn from very few subjects whose experience and response

". was quite varied. These represent only the medical guidelines; legal guidelines also are

operatwe and may be more restrictive.
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A series (within a “session”) of several relatively rapid waterboard applications is

medically acceptable in all hea]thi subi ectsi 50 loni as there is no indication of some

emerging vulnerabili

Several such sessions per 24 hours have been employed without
apparent medical complication. The exact number of sessions cannot be prescribed, and
will depend on the response to each. If more-than 3 sessions of 5 or more applications

are envisioned within a 24 hours penod a careful medical reassessment must be made
before each later sessmn

By days 3-5 of an aggressive program, cumulative effects become a potential

- concern. Without any hard data to quantify either this risk or the advantages.of this
-technique, we believe that beyond this point continued intense-waterboard applications -

may not be medically appropriate. Continued aggressive use of the waterboard beyond

-this point should be reviewed by the HV'T team in consultation with Headquarters prior to
any further aggressive use.

NOTE: In order to best inform future medical judgments and recommendations, it is

- important that every application of the waterboard be thoroughly documented: how long
each application {and the entire procedure) lasted, how much water was used in the

process ( realizing that much splashes.off), how exactly the water was applied, if a seal

was achieved, if the naso- or oropharynx was filled, what sort of volume was expelled,

how long was the break between applications, and how the subject looked between each
treatment.
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